Supporting national policy development and implementation

# Bereavement support and Prolonged Grief Disorder: Scoping and mapping the evidence

Gary Raine, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Helen Fulbright Katy Sutcliffe and Amanda Sowden

2024

NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility is a collaboration between:



EPPI Centre Evidence for Policy & Practice





## **Bereavement support and Prolonged Grief Disorder:** Scoping and mapping the evidence

Authors:

Gary Raine, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Helen Fulbright Katy Sutcliffe and Amanda Sowden

February 2024

The authors of this report are: Gary Raine, Claire Khouja, Meena Khatwa, Helen Fulbright, Katy Sutcliffe and Amanda Sowden

Editorial and design by: Lionel Openshaw

#### **Peer review**

Systematic reviews for the PRP reviews facility are typically peer-reviewed to ensure their findings and conclusions are robust. Peer review was not required for this work as it is a systematic map rather than a systematic review, in other words, it provides an overview of available research rather than a synthesis and appraisal of research.

#### Funding

This review was commissioned by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Policy Research Programme (PRP) for the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). It was funded through the NIHR PRP contract with the EPPI Centre at UCL (Reviews facility to support national policy development and implementation, NIHR200701). The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the DHSC.

#### **Funder involvement**

This work is part of an ongoing programme of work funded by DHSC. Throughout the review, DHSC policy team members were consulted to understand the context of the issue under study, and to identify the focus and scope of the analysis.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

There were no conflicts of interest in the writing of this report.

#### Contributions

The opinions expressed in this publication are not necessarily those of the EPPI Centre or the funders. Responsibility for the views expressed remains solely with the authors.

#### This report should be cited as:

Raine G, Khouja C, Khatwa M, Fulbright H, Sutcliffe K, Sowden A. (2024) *Bereavement support and Prolonged Grief Disorder: Scoping and mapping the evidence*. London: EPPI Centre, Social Science Research Unit, UCL Institute of Education, University College London.

ISBN: 978-1-911605-54-6

© Copyright 2024

Authors of the systematic reviews on the EPPI Centre website (http://eppi.ioe.ac.uk/) hold the copyright for the text of their reviews. The EPPI Centre owns the copyright for all material on the website it has developed, including the contents of the databases, manuals, and keywording and data-extraction systems. The centre and authors give permission for users of the site to display and print the contents of the site for their own non-commercial use, providing that the materials are not modified, copyright and other proprietary notices contained in the materials are retained, and the source of the material is cited clearly following the citation details provided. Otherwise, users are not permitted to duplicate, re-publish, distribute, or store material from this website without express written permission.

## Contents

List of tables	vi
List of figures	vi
List of abbreviations	vi
Executive Summary	vii
Background	vii
Aim	vii
Methods	viii
Key findings	viii
Gaps in the evidence	x
Conclusions and implications for additional synthesis work	x
Introduction	1
Bereavement, Prolonged Grief Disorder and health inequity	2
Policy context in relation to bereavement	3
Bereavement support in England	4
Types of support	4
Why is this review needed now?	5
Aim	5
Methods	6
Identification of evidence	6
Eligibility criteria	7
Selection procedure	8
Data extraction	8
Synthesis	9
Post-protocol changes	9
Terminology	9
Results	10
Overview of included reviews	11
Year of publication	12
Characteristics of the bereaved	12
Cause or type of death	14
Reviews on the extent and nature of Prolonged Grief Disorder (PGD prevalence).	18
Summary of reviews and protocols	18

	Overview of reviews	.18
	Review characteristics	.19
	Specific relationships	.19
	Specific types of death	.19
	Specific population groups	.20
	Comorbidity	.20
	Protocols – the extent and nature of PGD	.20
R	eviews on risk factors for PGD	.21
	Summary of reviews and protocols	.21
	Overview of reviews	.21
	Review characteristics	.22
	Reviews with a focus on single factors	.22
	Protocols – risk factors for PGD	.22
	General grief reactions – reviews	.23
	General grief reactions – protocols	.23
	eviews on grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people an arriers to accessing grief services	
	Summary of reviews and protocols	.24
	Overview of reviews	.25
	Review characteristics	.25
	Review of reviews	.25
	Standard reviews	.25
	Experiences of bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased	.25
	Experiences of bereaved individuals with a general or non-specific relationship to the deceased	.27
	Protocols – grief and bereavement experiences	.28
	Protocols focused on the experiences of bereaved individuals with a specific relationshi to the deceased	•
	Protocols focused on the experiences of bereaved individuals with a general or non- specific relationship to the deceased	.30
	Reviews on equity issues in relation to access to bereavement support services	.31
	Protocols – equity issues	.31
R	eviews on the effectiveness of interventions for preventing or treating PGD	
	Summary of reviews and protocols	.33
	Overview of reviews	.34

Review characteristics34
Reviews of reviews
Standard reviews
Reviews reporting on multiple issues of interest34
Reviews only reporting on the effectiveness of interventions
Protocols – effectiveness of interventions
Optimum time to access bereavement support services to prevent PGD
Primary studies on the types of bereavement support services available in the UK40
Summary of primary studies40
Overview of primary studies40
Year of publication40
Study details41
Primary focus41
Study characteristics42
Discussion45
What review-level evidence is available on the extent and nature of Prolonged Grief
What review-level evidence is available on the extent and nature of Prolonged Grief Disorder?45
Disorder?45
Disorder?
Disorder?.45What review-level evidence is available on risk factors for PGD?.45What review-level evidence is available on individuals' grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people and barriers to accessing grief services?.46What review-level evidence is available on the effectiveness of interventions for preventing or treating PGD?.48What evidence is available from primary studies about the types of bereavement services provided in the UK?.49To what extent do available services reflect those that have been evaluated?.50Strengths and limitations.50Conclusions and implications for additional synthesis work.51
Disorder?

## List of tables

Table 1: Focus of included reviews	.11
Table 2: Year of publication	.12
Table 3: Number of reviews by focus and key characteristics	.15
Table 4: Number of protocols by focus and key characteristics	.17
Table 5: Year of publication for UK primary studies	.41
Table 6: Primary focus of included studies	.42

## List of figures

Figure 1: Flow of studies through the review	10
Figure 2: Cause/type of death	14

## List of abbreviations

BAME	Black, Asian and minority ethnic
СВТ	Cognitive behavioural therapy
DHSC	Department of Health and Social Care
GP	General practitioner
ніс	High-income countries
ICU	Intensive care unit
LGBT+	Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and other sexual identities
LMHIC	Low-, middle- or high-income countries
LMIC	Low- or middle-income countries
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NIHR	National Institute for Health and Care Research
PGD	Prolonged Grief Disorder
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

## Background

Most people adapt successfully to bereavement over time without the need for formal support or treatment. Some individuals experience abnormally persistent and intense symptoms of grief that significantly interfere with daily functioning and increase the risk of adverse physical and mental health outcomes. This condition has been described using various terms including Prolonged Grief Disorder (PGD). The prevalence of PGD is thought to be more common in certain circumstances, for example, following the death of a partner or child, and when individuals are bereaved as a result of a sudden, unexpected, or violent death including suicide.

Death, loss and bereavement are disproportionally experienced by groups who face social and structural inequities. The combined life circumstances of these individuals may also result in greater vulnerability to PGD. It has been suggested that the COVID-19 pandemic will lead to an increase in PGD cases. Any pandemic-related increase in PGD may disproportionally affect vulnerable communities as evidence shows that COVID-19 mortality is highest amongst disadvantaged groups including people from minority ethnic communities and individuals of all ethnicities living in deprived areas.

The London-York NIHR Policy Reviews Facility was asked by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) in England to identify evidence on several issues related to PGD to inform policy and practice, with the ultimate aim of reducing the prevalence of the condition and the strain on services.

## Aim

We aimed to systematically scope and map the research evidence on grief, bereavement and PGD in relation to a range of questions of interest to the DHSC. We sought to identify the availability of evidence from systematic reviews on the following issues:

- the extent and nature of PGD;
- risk factors for PGD;
- grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people and the barriers to accessing grief services; and
- the effectiveness of interventions for preventing or treating PGD.

We also sought to identify primary studies reporting on the types of bereavement support services that are available in the UK. Our objective was to provide a high-level overview of the available evidence which enables potential research gaps to be identified. We did not seek to extract, evaluate and synthesise findings from included studies.

## Methods

We searched 12 databases and the websites of 18 organisations primarily for systematic reviews that focused on any of the following: the frequency or risk of PGD; the relationship between grief-related outcomes and potential risk factors; experiences of bereavement and service use; and reviews of intervention effectiveness/impact, cost-effectiveness and/or implementation. We also searched for primary studies on the type and availability of bereavement support services in the UK. All searches were limited by publication date (2015 onwards), but no language restrictions were applied.

We extracted key characteristics from reviews and primary studies which allowed us to produce a high-level descriptive summary detailing the extent and nature of the current evidence base relevant to the questions of interest to the DHSC. We also created an interactive map of the evidence, which displays our findings visually and enables users to view the bibliographical details of included reviews and primary studies.

## **Key findings**

We screened 5627 records and included 212 reviews; 96 protocols including four protocols for reviews that were completed but not yet published; and 16 primary studies.

#### Broad topic focus of reviews and protocols

To assess the extent of evidence available on the key issues of interest to DHSC, we coded reviews and protocols according to the type of evidence they focused on. The largest group of reviews (n=103) and protocols (n=44) explored individuals' grief and bereavement experiences. The second largest group of reviews and protocols focused on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions (80 reviews and 38 protocols). We identified 42 reviews and 14 protocols addressing risk and protective factors for prolonged grief. We also identified 37 reviews and six protocols that examined the relationship between specific factors and outcomes such as the severity or intensity of grief and individuals' adjustment after bereavement rather than focusing on prolonged grief specifically. The remaining group of reviews (n=22) and protocols (n=12) focused on the extent and nature of prolonged grief amongst various groups of bereaved people. Fifty-five out of the 212 reviews and 17 out of the 96 protocols focused on two or more issues of interest. Many reviews also focused on specific populations, causes or types of death or deaths in specific settings.

## Reviews and protocols focused on participants with a specific relationship to the deceased

Most reviews (n=123) and just under half of the protocols (n=44) focused on individuals who had a specific relationship with the deceased (carer, parent, spouse/partner, sibling, son/daughter, grandparent, health or care professional or work colleague). The remaining reviews (n=89) and protocols (n=52) had a generic

focus on 'family' or 'family and friends' or focused on bereaved individuals with no specified relationship to the deceased.

## Reviews and protocols focused on bereaved individuals with other specific characteristics

Sixty-one reviews and 34 protocols focused on bereaved adults. Sixteen reviews and eight protocols had a primary focus on bereaved children and young people. Nine reviews and three protocols focused on bereaved women. Four reviews and three protocols were about men only. Twelve reviews and two protocols had a focus on marginalised or minority populations.

#### Reviews and protocols focused on a specific cause/type of death

Most reviews (n=108) and protocols (n=50) focused on a specific cause or type of death. Of the 108 reviews, 90 focused on three main causes or types of death: a specific health condition or terminal illness such as cancer or dementia (n=36); perinatal loss (n=34); or suicide (n=20). The other 18 reviews examined violent or unnatural deaths (n=7); assisted suicide or euthanasia (n=3); sudden and unexpected deaths (n=2); non-violent deaths (n=2); drug-related deaths (n=2); COVID-19 related deaths (n=1); and mass events such as pandemics, natural and human-made disasters, or terrorism (n=1). Sixteen reviews did not examine a specific cause or type of death but were focused on a specific setting: intensive/critical care (n=9), acute care settings (n=3); in-hospital settings (n=2) emergency department (n=1); or long-term care (n=1). The 88 remaining reviews did not focus on a specific cause or type of death or deaths in a specific setting.

Of the 50 protocols focused on a specific cause or type of death, 16 addressed perinatal deaths and 13 focused on a specific health condition or terminal illness including one on suicide in people with dementia. Nine other protocols had a focus on suicide. Other protocols focused on deaths linked either directly or indirectly to COVID-19 (n=5); violent deaths (n=4); sudden and unexpected deaths (n=2); and epidemics (n=1). Five protocols were on deaths in a specific setting: hospital or intensive care unit (ICU) deaths (n=4) or care-home deaths (n=1). The remaining 41 protocols did not focus on a specific cause or type of death or deaths in a specific setting.

#### Evidence about the type of bereavement support services in the UK

Eleven out of the 16 primary studies described the type of support provided by organisations. Studies also reported on other issues: the availability of services (n=9); staff views about provision (n=6); service delivery issues (n=5); barriers to accessing services (n=2); and the socioeconomic costs of bereavement (n=1).

Eight out of the 16 studies focused on services following a specific cause of death or deaths in a specific setting. Three of the eight studies examined bereavement services following deaths from terminal illness, two of which focused specifically on hospice provision. Three studies focused on perinatal deaths, and another addressed best practice and services available for individuals bereaved by suicide. Another study focused on bereavement care in ICUs. Five studies reported on the provision of general bereavement services rather than focusing on support following a specific type of death or deaths in a specific setting. One of these studies had a specific focus on the socioeconomic costs of bereavement services in Scotland. Three other studies reported on the provision of services during the COVID-19 pandemic.

## Gaps in the evidence

We identified only limited evidence on the influence of socioeconomic determinants and inequities on post-bereavement needs, experiences and service use. More broadly, the literature would benefit from a greater focus on the experiences and needs of the most marginalised and disadvantaged communities as these individuals may find it more difficult to access bereavement support and be at higher risk of PGD. Reviews exploring the bereavement experiences of different genders have focused solely on parents or the child-parent relationship. We did not identify any reviews addressing the cost-effectiveness of interventions. Reviews have evaluated a wide range of interventions; however, all but one had a primary focus on the individual level. The paucity of evidence on broader social, organisational or structural-level interventions is an important gap in the literature.

## Conclusions and implications for additional synthesis work

Issues related to grief and bereavement, including PGD, have been extensively reviewed in the literature. We identified a large body of evidence addressing a range of questions of interest to the DHSC. Conducting additional syntheses may be of value if it was possible to identify a specific and focused research question to address a significant gap in knowledge. Appropriate additional work could involve supplementing existing reviews or conducting new reviews.

## INTRODUCTION

Bereavement is a common experience with approximately 500,000 deaths annually in England and Wales. <sup>(1)</sup> By 2025, the number of UK deaths is forecast to exceed the number of births. <sup>(2)</sup> Research suggests that 72% of UK adults have been bereaved at least once in the previous five years. <sup>(3)</sup> Approximately 41,000 children in the UK experienced the death of a parent during 2015. <sup>(4)</sup> It is estimated that bereavement amongst employees costs the UK economy between £14 billion to £49 billion each year, the majority of which results from presenteeism. <sup>(5)</sup>

Grief is a natural reaction to bereavement and most people adapt successfully to their loss over time without the need for formal support or treatment. <sup>(6, 7)</sup> Some individuals experience abnormally persistent and intense symptoms of grief that significantly interfere with daily functioning and increase the risk of adverse physical and mental health outcomes. <sup>(8, 9)</sup> This condition has been described using various terms including chronic, complicated, pathological, prolonged, and traumatic grief; Persistent Complex Bereavement Disorder; and most recently Prolonged Grief Disorder (PGD). Terms appear to be used interchangeably in the literature, especially PGD, complicated and prolonged grief.

The prevalence of PGD amongst adults as a result of non-violent loss is estimated to be approximately 10%. <sup>(10)</sup> However, PGD is thought to be more common in certain circumstances, for example, following the death of a partner or child, and when individuals are bereaved as a result of a sudden, unexpected or violent death including suicide. <sup>(7, 11-13)</sup>

PGD has recently been recognised as a distinct mental health disorder in both the International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision (ICD-11) and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, revised 5th edition (DSM-5-TR), published by the World Health Organization and American Psychiatric Association, respectively. A key diagnostic criterion of PGD in both classification systems is that the duration of an individual's grief exceeds expected social, cultural or religious norms. <sup>(14, 15)</sup> However, the criteria for PGD in the ICD-11 and DSM-5-TR are not identical. For example, the DSM-5-TR requires the death of an adult to have occurred at least 12 months prior to diagnosis compared to at least six months in the ICD-11. <sup>(16)</sup>

The classification of PGD as a mental health disorder has not received universal approval. Various concerns have been raised around issues such as pathologising and medicalising grief, stigmatisation of the bereaved, and increased use/misuse of medication. <sup>(17-19)</sup> The status of PGD/complicated grief as a recognised mental health condition in the UK is unclear. According to the website of the charity Cruse Bereavement Support, there is not an accepted definition of complicated grief in the UK, and individuals are not usually diagnosed with it. <sup>(20)</sup>

## Bereavement, Prolonged Grief Disorder and health inequity

It is important to consider issues of inequity in relation to bereavement and PGD, particularly as reducing health disparities forms a key part of the Government's 'Levelling Up' agenda.<sup>(21)</sup>

The concept of structural vulnerability describes how an individual's position in multiple and overlapping power hierarchies (for example, social, cultural, political and economic) puts them at increased risk of negative health outcomes.<sup>(22)</sup> It is a useful concept when applied to the study of health-related issues as it focuses attention on the way in which social and structural factors make certain individuals more susceptible to poorer outcomes by constraining agency and action and creating barriers to care.<sup>(22-26)</sup>

As a result of existing health inequities, death, loss and bereavement are disproportionally experienced by structurally vulnerable groups.<sup>(26, 27)</sup> For example, individuals living in the most deprived areas of England have higher mortality and a greater risk of death than people from the most affluent areas.<sup>(28, 29)</sup> Research from Scotland has also shown that children from the most disadvantaged households, either in terms of income, housing tenure or health status, are at greater risk of experiencing the death of a parent or sibling.<sup>(30)</sup> There is a clear link between deprivation and ethnicity with people from most minority ethnic groups being more likely than White British people to live in the most deprived neighbourhoods.<sup>(31)</sup>

The combined life circumstances of marginalised groups may result in greater vulnerability to PGD. Factors contributing to structural vulnerability such as lower socioeconomic status and low income have been linked to a higher risk of developing the condition. <sup>(16, 32)</sup> Furthermore, the types of death linked to an increased PGD risk, including suicide and violent deaths, are most common amongst disadvantaged communities. See, for example, deprivation and suicide; <sup>(33-35)</sup> homicide victimisation and minority ethnic status <sup>(36, 37)</sup> and deaths due to assault and deprivation. <sup>(38)</sup>

It has been suggested that the COVID-19 pandemic may lead to an increase in PGD cases. <sup>(6, 39, 40)</sup> Any pandemic-related increase in PGD may also disproportionally affect vulnerable communities as evidence shows that COVID-19 mortality is highest amongst disadvantaged groups including people from minority ethnic communities and individuals of all ethnicities living in deprived areas. <sup>(41-44)</sup> Furthermore, Routen et al. reported that lockdown restrictions had the biggest impact on the religious practices after death of minority ethnic groups, <sup>(45)</sup> which is one factor cited as potentially increasing the risk of PGD (for example, Groveas and Shear, 2020). <sup>(6)</sup>

Individuals on a low-income face greater difficulties accessing services following bereavement and are also more reluctant to seek support. <sup>(3, 5)</sup> Moreover, when people from deprived areas do receive care, they are significantly more likely to only rate it as poor or fair compared with individuals in the most affluent areas. <sup>(46)</sup> Rowley et al. identified a need to improve understanding of the type of support that individuals

would find most helpful following bereavement within the context of poverty and deprivation. <sup>(47)</sup> More generally, it is important for informing policy and practice to gain a broader understanding of the post-bereavement experiences and needs of different groups of people, particularly those at the greatest risk of negative outcomes, and identify factors that act as barriers and enablers to care.

The concept of intersectionality recognises that multiple inequities interact to produce distinct experiences and outcomes. <sup>(48-50)</sup> Adopting an intersectional perspective therefore provides a more nuanced understanding of health issues. <sup>(49, 51)</sup> Viewing bereavement through this lens highlights how people's experiences of coping with loss and their use of services will be influenced by the interaction of social characteristics (such as gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and disability), structures of power, and unequal power relations. <sup>(48)</sup> Intersectionality also promotes equity by rejecting a 'one-size fits all' approach to policy development and service provision, which inevitably leaves some groups behind. <sup>(48, 51)</sup>

## Policy context in relation to bereavement

The importance of bereavement support for specific groups has been recognised in a range of strategy and guidance documents published over the past 15 years. This includes, for example, individuals bereaved by suicide; <sup>(34, 52, 53)</sup> terminal illness; <sup>(54, 55)</sup> and following the death of a child or young person. <sup>(56)</sup>

Facilitating bereavement care has been identified as a key component of specialistlevel palliative care.<sup>(57)</sup> The Faculty of Intensive Care Medicine also described as 'invaluable' bereavement care for families of critical-care patients (p.20).<sup>(58)</sup> Taking forward a commitment outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan,<sup>(59)</sup> the NHS Mental Health Implementation plan 2019/20-2023/24 included the target of providing post-crisis support in every local area for individuals bereaved by suicide to prevent poor mental health outcomes.<sup>(60)</sup>

Penny and Relf mapped the provision of bereavement care to indicators in multiple Health and Social Care Outcomes Frameworks, including those related to public health, NHS outcomes and adult social care. <sup>(61)</sup> Importantly, there is currently no crossdepartmental strategy for bereavement care in England through which to coordinate policy and practice. <sup>(62)</sup>

Revised national service standards for bereavement care were published in 2014. <sup>(63)</sup> These standards defined a set of quality criteria applicable to all bereavement services and provided a framework against which organisations can appraise, develop, and improve care provision. <sup>(63)</sup> More recently, the National Palliative and End of Life Care Partnership, which includes NHS England and NHS Improvement, published a framework to improve palliative and end-of-life care. It comprised six 'ambitions' that reflect best practice for palliative and end-of-life care in England including bereavement and pre-bereavement care. <sup>(64)</sup> A specific national framework and associated standards also exists to improve bereavement care for parents in English NHS trusts after pregnancy or baby loss. <sup>(65)</sup>

There have been new strategy and guidance documents relating to bereavement care published recently in other countries of the UK. This includes a national framework for the delivery of bereavement care in Wales, <sup>(66)</sup> and a bereavement charter in Scotland. <sup>(67)</sup> The latter provided a set of statements and guidance on how to support bereaved individuals effectively.

## **Bereavement support in England**

Bereavement services in England are provided through multiple sectors and agencies including acute care, local authorities, primary care and third sector organisations such as hospices and other charities. <sup>(68)</sup> Bereavement care can be commissioned across a range of services within health and social care including end-of-life care; suicide prevention and other mental health provision; support for carers; maternity services; and emergency preparedness. <sup>(61)</sup>

Concerns have been raised about variation in the availability and quality of bereavement care in England as well as its accessibility and financial sustainability.<sup>(3, 52, 62)</sup> In 2019, the National Bereavement Alliance called for greater clarity about local responsibility for commissioning and providing bereavement care, as well as better coordination, secure funding and information about available services.<sup>(62)</sup>

In 2022, the UK Commission on Bereavement published a review of bereavement support in England and other countries of the UK.<sup>(69)</sup> It produced eight key principles and related recommendations for change. These recommendations included: increasing statutory funding for bereavement and palliative care services; establishing a cross-departmental government bereavement strategy; development of guidance and minimum standards for the delivery of bereavement support; and requiring age-appropriate teaching in schools about coping with death and bereavement. They also included requiring employers and educational settings to have a bereavement policy; providing paid bereavement leave that covers all close relationships; greater provision of culturally and contextually informed bereavement training for individuals in contact with the bereaved; introducing measures to reduce the administrative and financial burden on the bereaved; and increasing focus on tackling inequality in the provision of bereavement support.<sup>(69)</sup>

## Types of support

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) described a threecomponent model of bereavement support for families and carers following a death from cancer. <sup>(55)</sup> This model has since been supplemented by a public health approach to bereavement care comprising various categories of support (universal/selective or targeted/indicated) and applied to service provision more broadly. <sup>(61, 66)</sup> (1) Universal/NICE component 1: support aimed at all bereaved individuals and 'uncomplicated grief'. It involves the provision of information about bereavement and sources of support. This may be provided as part of a conversation with health and social care professionals or supplied in written form or via online resources. At this level, support will be mostly provided by family, friends and existing social networks.

(2) Selective or targeted/NICE component 2: non-specialist, and often volunteer-based, support for bereaved individuals who are at increased risk of developing grief-related problems. Individuals are given a more formal opportunity to discuss and reflect on their loss. This type of support may take the form of self-help groups, peer support, befriending or faith groups, and trained support workers.

(3) Indicated/NICE component 3: specialist support or treatments for individuals with the most complex needs who are experiencing symptoms of a grief disorder or other mental health condition. This may involve mental health services/psychological support and bereavement counselling. <sup>(55, 61, 66)</sup>

A range of different forms of support is represented in the typology above and evidence is required on intervention effectiveness to inform and improve care provision.

## Why is this review needed now?

There were approximately 200,000 deaths involving COVID-19 in the UK between March 2020 and June 2022.<sup>(70)</sup> If predictions of a COVID-related increase in PGD cases prove correct, it could place bereavement and health services under significant additional pressure as well as having implications for society more broadly, such as widening health inequities.

The London-York NIHR Policy Reviews Facility was asked by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) in England to identify evidence on several issues related to PGD to inform policy and practice, with the ultimate aim of reducing the prevalence of the condition and preventing strain on services.

## AIM

We aimed to systematically scope and map the research evidence on grief, bereavement and PGD in relation to a range of questions of interest to the DHSC. We sought to identify the availability of evidence from systematic reviews on the following issues:

- the extent and nature of PGD;
- risk factors for PGD;
- grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people and the barriers to accessing grief services;
- the effectiveness of interventions for preventing or treating PGD.

We also sought to identify primary studies reporting on the types of bereavement support services that are available in the UK. Our objective was to provide a high-level overview of the available evidence which enables potential research gaps to be identified. We did not seek to extract, evaluate and synthesise findings from included studies. The questions of interest to the DHSC are available in Appendix 1, page 82.

## METHODS

## Identification of evidence

To identify relevant publications, we searched the following databases:

- MEDLINE
- Embase
- PsycINFO
- CINAHL
- Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews
- Epistemonikos
- HMIC
- Social Policy & Practice
- Social Care Online
- Social Services Abstracts
- EThOS (British Library)
- PROSPERO (CRD)

We also searched the websites of the following organisations: the Center for Complicated Grief at Columbia University; Cruse Bereavement Support; National Bereavement Alliance; Sue Ryder; Marie Curie Palliative Care Research Centre; the Caresearch Project: Palliative Care Knowledge Network; Childhood Bereavement Network; Childhood Bereavement UK; Sands; the Irish Hospice Foundation; MIND; National Bereavement Service; the Good Grief Trust; the Good Grief Project; Marie Curie; NHS (bereavement support); Quakers Social Action; Winston's Wish; and Just B.

The search strategy for the academic databases was developed in Ovid MEDLINE by an Information Specialist in consultation with the review team (see Appendix 2, page 83). It consisted of broad terms for grief and bereavement, which were combined with a search filter for various review types of interest. The strategy also combined the terms with a geographic limit for the UK. The results of these separate parts of the strategy were pooled together using the Boolean operator OR and date limited from 2015 onwards to maximise the relevance of the evidence identified. The MEDLINE strategy was subsequently adapted for use with the other academic databases. No language restrictions were applied to any of the searches.

## **Eligibility criteria**

Records were selected for inclusion in the evidence map based on the following criteria:

*Study design*: Any form of systematic review. A review was considered systematic if authors (i) searched at least two sources, one of which must have been a named database, (ii) reported some search terms and clear eligibility criteria covering key review components, (iii) reported the number of references retrieved and the number of studies included and (iv) provided a synthesis of findings. This could be a statistical synthesis in the form of a meta-analysis, or a narrative or realist synthesis. For the question on the types of bereavement support in the UK, we included primary studies of any design. Non-empirical publications on UK bereavement support were excluded, for example, commentaries and discussion pieces.

*Population:* (i) Any bereaved individuals or population group. We did not place any restrictions on the sociodemographic characteristics; health status/co-morbidity; or place of residence of the bereaved. (ii) Key informants from any relevant organisation such as those working in the health, social care or third sector.

*Focus (non-interventions)*: Any reviews focused on (i) identifying the frequency or risk of PGD, and/or exploring the relationship between grief-related outcomes and potential risk factors. Risk factors could be on any level including individual, social, and structural factors. This could include, but was not limited to, sociodemographic factors, poverty, discrimination, and policy-level factors such as workplace policies and COVID-19 restrictions on burial/religious practices; or (ii) experiences of bereavement, grief, use of bereavement services or interactions with other individuals or organisations following a bereavement.

Also included were primary studies that surveyed, mapped or audited any type of bereavement support primarily in England, Wales, Scotland and/or Northern Ireland. Evaluations of single services were not eligible for inclusion.

*Interventions:* Reviews of interventions, which could be either, or both: (i) individuallevel interventions, for example, the provision of information; psychological or drug therapies and bereavement counselling, or (ii) social- or structural-level interventions aimed at addressing factors that disrupt the process of grieving or coping with bereavement, for example, changes to institutional/service organisation, delivery, policy or culture. Interventions could focus on support provided before and/or after bereavement.

*Comparators:* Any type of comparator, where applicable. For example, interventions could be compared with usual treatment, an alternate treatment, waiting list control, no treatment, or a before and after intervention assessment.

*Outcomes (non-intervention reviews)*: Reviews that reported findings related to any of the following: prevalence, incidence or relative risk/odds of PGD; factors that assist or

impair the bereavement/grieving process; enablers and barriers to the use of bereavement support; post bereavement needs; views about using support services or other sources of support, for example, family, friends; staff views about bereavement service provision and the needs of the bereaved. Factors could be at any level, for example, personal, interpersonal, cultural, social, economic or institutional. We included primary studies that reported any outcome related to the provision of bereavement support in the UK (for example, type of support offered; description of the organisation/delivery of services).

*Outcomes (intervention reviews*): Reviews of interventions that reported any outcome related to the effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, safety of interventions or their impact on health inequities. Studies could also report outcomes related to the implementation of interventions and factors that influence effectiveness. For the purposes of this scoping review, effectiveness was conceptualised broadly to include findings from qualitative studies relating to the perceived impact and benefits of interventions. All included quantitative evaluations of interventions had to report outcomes related to grief, social/daily functioning, satisfaction or suicide behaviour.

## **Selection procedure**

We uploaded records identified from database searches into EPPI-Reviewer software. <sup>(71)</sup> A sample of title and abstracts was pilot screened by three reviewers independently and their decisions compared. On achieving a high degree of agreement (90% or more) the remaining records were screened by one reviewer only. If there was any uncertainty regarding the eligibility of a record, it was discussed with a second reviewer. The full texts of all potentially relevant reviews were screened independently by two reviewers. Any disagreements on the eligibility of a review were resolved by consensus. Any papers not written in English were translated using Google Translate and then screened. Reviews were only included if the clarity of the translation was sufficient for us to understand the key sections of text.

## **Data extraction**

For each included publication, key characteristics were extracted by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer. The following information was captured from reviews and protocols, where relevant: aim, year of publication or registration on PROSPERO; number of included studies; review type and focus; personal characteristics of the bereaved; cause/type of death; type of support (interventions only). For primary studies of UK bereavement support, we extracted details on: study aim; design and methods; location (in other words, in which UK country it was conducted); study focus; setting/service type (for example, ICU/critical care, maternity, hospice or palliative care); personal characteristics of the bereaved; cause/type of death; and type of support.

## Synthesis

The key characteristics extracted from reviews and primary studies were used to produce a high-level descriptive summary which detailed the extent and nature of the current evidence base relevant to the questions of interest to the DHSC. We also created an interactive map of the evidence using EPPI-Mapper software. <sup>(71)</sup> This displays our findings visually and enables users to view the bibliographical details of included studies.

As this mapping work was commissioned due to a possible COVID-19 related increase in PGD, we have reported review evidence related to COVID deaths separately from other health conditions such as cancer or dementia.

## **Post-protocol changes**

Owing to the large number of reviews that met our inclusion criteria, it was not practical for us to extract as much information about each publication as we proposed in the project protocol. We therefore needed to revise our coding process and record a more limited range of information about each review. This meant that we were unable to extract detailed information about review focus and outcomes of interest as intended. For example, we could not record the exact PGD risk factors examined in reviews or what aspects of individuals' bereavement experiences were reported. We also had to restrict our focus on equity issues and could not examine fully whether reviews reported any findings disaggregated by key characteristics such as gender or whether authors applied any form of intersectional lens to their synthesis.

## Terminology

As indicated in the introduction, a range of terms has been used, often interchangeably, in the literature to describe abnormally persistent and intense symptoms of grief. Only a minority of reviews included in our map used the term Prolonged Grief Disorder in the title or abstract, which until recently was not a recognised diagnosis. Prolonged grief and complicated grief were more commonly used terms. For this work, we use the terms prolonged grief, complicated grief and Prolonged Grief Disorder synonymously.

## RESULTS

We screened 5627 records and included 212 reviews; 96 protocols including four protocols for reviews that were completed but not yet published; and 16 primary studies. The flow of studies through the review is shown in Figure 1.





SR = systematic review; PROSPERO = International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews

*Template from:* Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71 Three of the reviews were systematic reviews of reviews (overviews). Four protocols were for systematic reviews of reviews and another was for a living review (updated every six months to April 2022). Of the 96 protocols, 89 were identified from PROSPERO and seven were published in academic journals. We included five reviews based solely on information in the title and abstract as the full text was not readily available. <sup>(72-76)</sup>

On the EPPI Centre website there is an <u>interactive map of our findings</u>.

In the sections that follow, we first describe the characteristics of all included reviews and protocols and then describe reviews and protocols according to their specific focus.

### **Overview of included reviews**

The broad issues addressed in included reviews are shown in Table 1. A more detailed summary of review focus is provided in Table A, Appendix 3, page 89.

Issue	Reviews* <sup>a</sup>	Protocols* bc	Total					
Non-intervention focused reviews								
Extent and nature of PGD	22	12	34					
Risk factors for PGD	42	14	56					
General grief reactions	37	6	43					
Grief and bereavement experiences	103	44	147					
Intervention focused reviews								
Intervention effectiveness	80	38	118					
Totals	212	96	308					

Table 1: Focus of included reviews

\*Some reviews and protocols focused on multiple issues. <sup>a</sup> Includes three reviews of reviews; <sup>b</sup> includes four protocols for reviews that were completed but not yet published; <sup>c</sup> includes protocols for two reviews of reviews.

The largest group of reviews (n=103) and protocols (n=44) explored individuals' grief and bereavement experiences. This encompassed reviews that addressed one or more of the following issues: the use of formal or informal sources of support; barriers to accessing support; equity related to grief/bereavement and the use of services; coping with grief; post bereavement needs; or views about the factors that facilitate or impair the grieving process. The second largest group of reviews and protocols focused on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions (80 reviews and 38 protocols). We identified 42 reviews and 14 protocols addressing risk and protective factors for prolonged grief, correlates of the disorder or factors moderating its prevalence. We also identified another group of 37 reviews and six protocols which we called 'general grief reactions'. These reviews examined the relationship between specific factors and outcomes such as the severity or intensity of grief and/or individual adjustment after bereavement rather than focusing on prolonged grief specifically. The remaining group of reviews (n=22) and protocols (n=12) focused on the extent and nature (prevalence) of prolonged grief amongst various groups of bereaved people. Fifty-five out of the 212 reviews and 17 out of the 96 protocols focused on two or more issues of interest.

It is possible that some of the included protocols relate to reviews that are now published but authors did not update the PROSPERO record. An attempt was made to identify any such publication, but it is not always a straightforward task as published reviews frequently have different first authors and titles to the original protocol. Some protocols recorded as ongoing, especially those published on PROSPERO several years ago, may have been discontinued.

## Year of publication

Table 2 shows the year of publication of included reviews and protocols. Sixty-one percent of reviews (n=129) were published in the last three years (2020-2023) and over three quarters were published since 2018 (n=166). Forty-six reviews were published between 2015 and 2017. Most of the protocols (70/96) were published on PROSPERO or in an academic journal since 2020.

Year	Reviews	Protocols
2023	1	
2022	59	28
2021	37	26
2020	32	16
2019	27	10
2018	10	9
2017	18	3
2016	14	3
2015	14	1

Table 2: Year of publication

## **Characteristics of the bereaved**

#### Reviews

As shown in Table 3 (page 15), a majority of reviews (n=123) focused on bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased (carer, parent, spouse/partner,

sibling, son/daughter, grandparent, health or care professional, or work colleague). The remaining 89 reviews had a generic focus on 'family' or 'family and friends' (n=31) or focused on bereaved individuals with no specified relationship to the deceased (n=58).

Sixty-one reviews focused on bereaved adults and 16 had a primary focus on children and young people. Thirteen reviews had inclusion restrictions related to gender with nine focusing solely on bereaved women and four were about men only. Thirty reviews applied geographical restrictions and focused solely on evidence from specific countries or regions. Two thirds of these reviews included studies from the UK, USA or other high-income countries (n=20). The remaining 10 focused on low-income countries including sub-Saharan African (n=3); China, Hong Kong or Taiwan (n=3); low- or middle-income countries (n=2); high- or middle- income countries (n=1); and the Asia-Pacific region (n=1).

Twelve reviews reported evidence related to marginalised or minority populations. Three reviews focused on minority ethnic groups; three on refugees, migrants or asylum seekers; two on LGBT+ individuals; and two on individuals with an intellectual disability. Another review comprised studies of individuals who misused drugs and one focused on those positioned as structurally vulnerable in bereavement. Forty-three reviews did not focus on bereaved individuals with a specific personal characteristic, specific relationship to the deceased or specific geographic location.

#### Protocols

As shown in Table 4 (page 17), 44 out of the 96 protocols focused on individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased. The remaining 52 protocols had a generic focus on bereaved 'family' or 'family and friends' (n=17) or focused on bereaved individuals with no specified relationship to the deceased (n=35).

Thirty-four protocols focused on adults and eight were on children or young people (up to the age of 30 years). In terms of gender, three protocols focused on women only and three were on men. One protocol focused on bereaved LGBT+ people and another on refugees. Three protocols were restricted to low- or middle-income countries and one focused specifically on sub-Saharan Africa. Another was focused on high-income countries only and one aimed to compare studies conducted in low-, middle- and high-income countries. One protocol focused on books in Spanish.

## Cause or type of death

A majority of both reviews (108/212) and protocols (50/96) focused on a specific cause or type of death. Figure 2 shows the cause or type of death reported in reviews and protocols.



#### Figure 2: Cause/type of death

#### Reviews

Ninety of the 108 reviews focused on one of three types of death: a specific health condition or terminal illness, excluding COVID-19 deaths (for example, cancer or dementia) (n=36); perinatal death (miscarriage through to neonatal loss including stillbirth, n=34); or suicide only (n=20). One of the 36 reviews coded as 'a specific health condition or terminal illness' focused on deaths due to medical illness but also included studies of deaths in unforeseen circumstances.

Of the remaining 18 reviews, seven examined violent or unnatural deaths, and two focused on sudden and unexpected deaths. The type of death examined in the remaining 9 reviews was: assisted suicide or euthanasia (n=3); non-violent death (n=2); drug-related death (n=2); COVID-19 related death (n=1); and mass events such as pandemics, natural and human-made disasters, or terrorism (n=1).

Two of the 36 reviews that examined bereavement following a specific health condition or terminal illness also focused on a particular health care setting. One focused on paediatric hospices and the other had a focus on adult intensive care. Two reviews examining neonatal death also focused on paediatric ICUs. One of the two reviews on sudden and unexpected deaths, also focused on ICUs, emergency departments and operating theatres.

Sixteen reviews did not examine a specific cause or type of death but were focused on a particular setting: intensive/critical care (n=9), acute care settings (n=3); inhospital settings (n=2) emergency department (n=1); or long-term care (n=1). The 88 remaining reviews did not focus on a specific cause or type of death or deaths in a specific setting.

#### Protocols

Fifty of the 96 protocols focused on a specific cause of death, sixteen of which addressed perinatal death. A specific health condition or terminal illness (such as cancer, dementia, or motor neurone disease) was the focus for 13 protocols; one of these examined suicide deaths in people with dementia. Suicide was the only focus for nine other protocols. Five protocols were about deaths linked to COVID-19 either directly or indirectly. Four protocols focused on violent deaths, and two others on sudden and unexpected death. One protocol focused on epidemic deaths. Five protocols were on deaths in a specific setting: hospital or ICU deaths (n=4), or care-home deaths (n=1). The remaining 41 protocols did not focus on a specific cause of death or location. Tables 3 and 4 (pages 15 and 17) provide a summary of all reviews and protocols by focus and key characteristics.

	Extent	Risk	General	Experiences <sup>a</sup>	Intervention	All
	of PGD	factors	grief		effectiveness <sup>b</sup>	reviews
		for PGD				
Relationship						
Specific	7	14	22	74	42	123
Any family/friends	4	13	7	11	9	31
Other non-specific	11	15	8	18	29	58
All non-specific	15	28	15	29	38	89
Personal characterist	ics					
Adults <sup>c</sup>	13	21	12	15	24	61
Children <sup>c</sup>	1	3	6	7	7	16
Female		1		5	4	9
Male			1	4		4
LGBT+				2		2
Disability	1	1		1	1	2
Minority ethnic			1	3		3
Refugees/migrants	2	1	1	1		3
Substance misuse	1	1			1	1
Structural				1		1
vulnerability						
Country						
UK, USA & other	2	3	4	14	7	20
high income						
LMIC				2	1	2

Table 3: Number of reviews by focus and key characteristics

	Extent	Risk	General	Experiences <sup>a</sup>	Intervention	All
	of PGD	factors	grief		effectiveness <sup>b</sup>	reviews
		for PGD				
Low income & sub-		1		3	1	3
Saharan Africa						
HMIC				1		1
China, Hong Kong	2	1	1	1		3
or Taiwan						
Asia-Pacific				1		1
Cause/type of death		•				
Specific health	6	9	6	14	15 <sup>d</sup>	36
issue/ terminal						
illness						
Perinatal		2	2	23	13	34
Suicide		1	3	13	8	20
Violent/unnatural	2	4	1	2	2	7
Assisted suicide		2	1	3		3
Sudden/unexpected				1	1	2
Non-violent	2	1				2
Drug related				2		2
COVID-19					1	1
Mass events -					1	1
illness or terrorism						
etc						
No cause of death -sp	ecific set	ting <sup>e</sup>		·		•
Hospital settings		2		8	6	15
Long-term care			1	1		1
No specific cause of	12	21	23	36	33	88
death or setting						
Totals	22	42	37	103	80	212

NB: Some reviews reported findings on multiple issues. Some reviews included both primary studies and reviews. <sup>a</sup> Includes one review of reviews. <sup>b</sup> Includes three reviews of reviews. <sup>c</sup> Based on inclusion criteria. Other reviews may also have only reported findings from studies of adults owing to a lack of eligible child-focused research. <sup>d</sup> One review focused on deaths due to medical illness and unforeseen circumstances but was only included in the specific health condition category. <sup>e</sup>Excludes reviews focused on both a specific cause and setting.

#### Table 4: Number of protocols by focus and key characteristics

	Extent of PGD	Risk factors for PGD <sup>a</sup>	General grief	Experiences <sup>b</sup>	Intervention effectiveness <sup>b</sup>	All protocols
Relationship		FGD				
Specific		1	2	33	15	44
Any	3	5	3	6	4	17
family/friends	0	Ŭ	0	0	-	.,
Other non-	9	8	1	5	19	35
specific	Ū	0	•	0		
All non-specific	12	13	4	11	23	52
Personal characte			·			
Adults	6	9	3	13	10	34
Children	1	1	-	1	6	8
Female				1	2	3
Male				3	-	3
LGBT+				1		3 1
Refugees				1		1
Country	l			1		
LMIC				2	1	3
HIC				2	1	3
LMHIC				1	1	1
	1	1		1		
Sub-Saharan Africa	1	1				1
Spanish					1	1
-					1	
Cause/type of dea	ith			10	-	10
Perinatal			0	12	5	16
Specific health			2	8	5	13
issue/terminal						
illness				5°	5°	9°
Suicide		0		-	5°	-
COVID-19	4	3	1	1		5
Violent	2	2	1	1	4	4
Sudden death				1	1	2
Epidemics		<b>1</b>	1			1
No cause of death	-specific	1	1			
Hospital or care		2		2	3	5
home						
No specific	6	6	1	15	19	41
cause of death						
or setting						
Totals	12	14	6	44	38	96

NB: Some protocols coded for multiple issues. <sup>a</sup> Includes a protocol for one review that was completed but not yet published. <sup>b</sup> Includes protocols for two reviews that were completed but not yet published. <sup>c</sup> One protocol was coded as terminal illness (dementia) and suicide; but not included in the suicide numbers. <sup>d</sup> Excludes protocols focused on both a specific cause and setting.

The following sections describe the evidence according to the issues of interest. Most reviews and protocols reporting on general grief reactions also focused on other issues. These reviews are reported in the sections on the extent of PGD, risk factors for PGD, grief/bereavement experiences, and intervention effectiveness. The small number of reviews and protocols that focused solely on general grief reactions are reported separately in the section on risk factors for PGD as there exists a degree of potential overlap between these two categories.

## REVIEWS ON THE EXTENT AND NATURE OF PROLONGED GRIEF DISORDER (PGD PREVALENCE)

## Summary of reviews and protocols

- **Number of publications:** twenty-two reviews and 12 protocols focused on the extent and nature of PGD.
- **Specific relationship to the deceased:** three reviews focused on informal carers; two were on parents who had lost a child; one was on children following the death of a parent; and one was on bereaved spouses. None of the protocols focused on a specific relationship, but three were on families in general.
- Other personal characteristics of the bereaved: most reviews focused on adults, older adults, and students over the age of 18 years only (n=13). One review had a focus on children and young adults. Four reviews focused on marginalised or minority populations. Half of the protocols focused on prolonged grief among adults (n=6); one had a focus on children or young people.
- **Cause or type of death:** six reviews reported on prolonged grief following death from a terminal or advanced illness. Four reviews focused on specific types of death: non-violent causes (n=2); violent or unnatural death (n=2). Four protocols were on COVID-19 and two were on violent deaths due to any disaster (n=1) or natural disasters (n=1).
- **Geographical area:** four reviews focused on a specific geographical area: highincome countries including the UK and the USA (n=2); and China, Hong Kong or Taiwan (n=2). One protocol focused on sub-Saharan Africa.

## **Overview of reviews**

We identified 22 reviews that reported the prevalence of prolonged grief amongst various bereaved population groups. <sup>(10, 77-97)</sup> Five reviews only reported findings on prevalence. <sup>(83, 86, 90, 94, 95)</sup> Another nine reviews reported on prevalence and risk factors

for the disorder. <sup>(10, 78, 79, 84, 85, 87, 92, 96, 97)</sup> Seven reviews reported on both prevalence and risk factors as well as on general grief reactions, individuals' grief/bereavement experiences or intervention effectiveness. <sup>(77, 80, 82, 88, 89, 91, 93)</sup> One other review focused on prevalence, general grief reactions and grief/bereavement experience <sup>(81)</sup> (see also Table A, Appendix 3, page 89).

## **Review characteristics**

Of the five reviews reporting the prevalence of prolonged grief only, three focused on specific groups of individuals; one on the Chinese population; <sup>(90)</sup> one on adult refugees, migrants or asylum seekers; <sup>(83)</sup> and one on older adults (65 years and over). <sup>(94)</sup> One review reported the prevalence of prolonged grief amongst family members bereaved as a result of chronic disease <sup>(86)</sup> and another focused on violent or unnatural death, including homicide. <sup>(95)</sup>

## Specific relationships

Of the other 17 reviews that included a focus on PGD prevalence and risk factors for the disorder, and/or general grief reactions, seven reviews focused on specific family relationships, <sup>(77, 79, 81, 82, 88, 93, 97)</sup> including informal carers, parents, children, and spouses.

#### **Informal carers**

Three of the seven reviews focused on informal adult carers of patients with dementia, <sup>(77)</sup> cancer, <sup>(79)</sup> and those in any hospice or palliative/end-of-life care setting in North America. <sup>(93)</sup>

#### Parents

Two of the seven reviews focused on parents following the death of a child. <sup>(88, 97)</sup> One of these two reviews had a specific focus on Chinese parents who lost their only child and could not have another one ('Shidu' parents). <sup>(97)</sup>

## Children and young people

One review reported findings from studies on children and young adults who had lost a parent due to terminal illness.<sup>(82)</sup>

## Spouse/partner

One review focused on older adults (60+ years old) who had lost a spouse from any cause.  $^{\rm (81)}$ 

## Specific types of death

Three of the remaining ten reviews focused on adults bereaved by specific types of death. <sup>(10, 78, 87)</sup> One review addressed bereavement resulting from non-violent causes; <sup>(10)</sup> one investigated unnatural deaths; <sup>(78)</sup> and the other focused on deaths from cancer. <sup>(87)</sup>

## Specific population groups

Five reviews examined prolonged grief prevalence amongst specific groups of individuals: adult refugees, migrants or asylum seekers; <sup>(84)</sup> people with an intellectual disability; <sup>(89)</sup> substance users; <sup>(91)</sup> students in higher education; <sup>(80)</sup> and adults in Spain. <sup>(92)</sup> One review reported the prevalence of prolonged grief amongst multiple population groups. <sup>(96)</sup>

## Comorbidity

One review estimated the prevalence of depression, anxiety or post-traumatic stress in individuals with PGD.  $^{(85)}$ 

## Protocols – the extent and nature of PGD

We identified 12 protocols on the prevalence of PGD. <sup>(98-109)</sup> Four of the 12 protocols were focused solely on prevalence. <sup>(102, 107-109)</sup> All four protocols were published on PROSPERO in 2021 or 2022. One examined the prevalence of PGD after natural disasters, <sup>(107)</sup> and another focused on the families of people who died from COVID-19. <sup>(109)</sup> The other two focused on PGD prevalence or symptomology amongst adults but were not restricted to a specific cause of death. <sup>(102, 108)</sup> One of these two focused specifically on comorbidity between PGD and other mental or physical health conditions. <sup>(108)</sup>

The remaining eight protocols all focused on both PGD prevalence and risk factors, <sup>(98-101, 103-106)</sup> and one planned to also report on general grief reactions. <sup>(106)</sup> Four of these protocols were published on PROSPERO in 2021 or 2022. <sup>(100, 101, 105, 106)</sup> Three of the four focused on the COVID-19 pandemic <sup>(101, 105, 106)</sup> and one investigated prevalence and risk factors amongst bereaved children. <sup>(100)</sup> The other four protocols were older with one published on PROSPERO in 2020, <sup>(103)</sup> two in 2018, <sup>(98, 99)</sup> and one in 2016. <sup>(104)</sup> Two of these four protocols focused on adults bereaved by any cause. <sup>(98, 104)</sup> One focused on the family or friends of people who died in disasters, <sup>(99)</sup> and the other was limited to studies conducted in sub-Saharan Africa. <sup>(103)</sup>

## **REVIEWS ON RISK FACTORS FOR PGD**

#### Summary of reviews and protocols

- **Number of publications:** forty-two reviews and 14 protocols focused on risk factors for PGD.
- **Specific relationship to the deceased:** seven reviews focused on bereaved informal carers; four were on parents (n=3), or mothers (n=1), after the loss of a child; two were on children following the death of a parent and one was on children and their surviving parent. One protocol for a review that was completed but not yet published focused on carers, fellow residents or family following deaths in care homes.
- Other personal characteristics of the bereaved: Twenty-one reviews focused on adults or students over the age of 18 years only and three had a focus on children or young people. Three reviews focused on marginalised or minority populations. Nine of the 14 protocols were on adults, and one was on children or young people.
- **Cause or type of death/deaths in a specific setting:** nine reviews synthesised evidence on terminal or advanced illness. Two reviews focused on perinatal loss. Ten reviews examined risk factors associated with specific types of death or deaths in a specific setting: violent, traumatic or unnatural death (n=4); non-violent death (n=1); bereavement following euthanasia/medically assisted death (n=2); suicide (n=1) and deaths in the ICU (n=2). Three protocols were on COVID-19; two were on violent deaths; one was on epidemic deaths and two were on ICU deaths.
- **Geographical area:** five reviews focused on a specific geographical area: highincome countries including the UK and the USA (n=3); Low income including sub-Saharan Africa (n=1) and China, Hong Kong or Taiwan (n=1). One protocol focused on sub-Saharan Africa.

## **Overview of reviews**

We identified 42 reviews reporting evidence on factors that potentially influence the risk of prolonged grief. Sixteen reviews were described in the previous section that reported on both PGD prevalence and risk factors. <sup>(10, 77-80, 82, 84, 85, 87-89, 91-93, 96, 97)</sup> The 26 other reviews addressed risk factors for prolonged grief without also focusing on prevalence. Ten of the 26 reviews solely reported findings on risk factors for prolonged grief. <sup>(110-119)</sup> The other 16 reviews reported findings on PGD risk factors plus general grief reactions, grief/bereavement experiences and/or the effectiveness of grief-related interventions. <sup>(120-135)</sup> (see also Table A, Appendix 3, page 89).

## **Review characteristics**

#### Specific relationships

Four of the 26 reviews reported on bereaved adult carers of patients who had a terminal health condition. <sup>(115, 118, 128, 129)</sup> Four other reviews focused on parent-child relationships; <sup>(112, 125, 126, 132)</sup> one of these four reviews explored risk factors for prolonged grief in mothers who lost a baby in pregnancy up to two years old. <sup>(112)</sup> Similarly, one review focused on both parents after perinatal loss. <sup>(132)</sup> Another reported findings on grief reactions, including maladaptive grief, in children following the death of a parent. <sup>(126)</sup> The fourth review examined the parent-child relationship in widowed families and the factors impacting on adjustment to loss. <sup>(125)</sup>

#### Specific type of death

Eight reviews focused on risk factors amongst people bereaved by specific types of death or deaths in specific settings. <sup>(113, 117, 119, 120, 124, 131, 133, 135)</sup> Three of these reviews focused on violent, sudden or traumatic deaths; <sup>(113, 131, 133)</sup> one of which examined the impact of a single risk factor. It explored whether informal social support reduces the risk or severity of complicated grief following sudden and/or violent death. <sup>(131)</sup> Two of the eight reviews explored the risk of prolonged grief following euthanasia/medically assisted death. <sup>(120, 135)</sup> Two reviews focused on the families of adults who died in intensive care settings from non-specific causes. <sup>(117, 119)</sup> One review examined whether suicide survivors' experiences of stigma impact on their grief trajectories. <sup>(124)</sup> One other review focused on the relatives of organ-donors. <sup>(121)</sup>

## Reviews with a focus on single factors

Nine reviews did not focus on specific relationships, types of death or settings; all these reviews examined the influence of a single factor on grief reactions and/or the development of PGD. Two reviews examined the relationship between prolonged grief and adult attachment style. <sup>(110, 116)</sup> One review that was conducted within the context of the COVID pandemic investigated the relationship between funeral practices and various bereavement outcomes including grief intensity, adjustment and unresolved grief. <sup>(122)</sup> Other reviews examined the relationship between prolonged grief and: family dynamics/functioning; <sup>(123)</sup> emotion regulation; <sup>(111)</sup> continuing bonds; <sup>(130)</sup> and loneliness. <sup>(134)</sup> One review investigated the neurobiological correlates of PGD, focusing specifically on the reward system. <sup>(114)</sup> Another review investigated the relationship between sleep difficulties and grief duration and severity, rather than PGD specifically (but found no studies). <sup>(127)</sup>

## Protocols – risk factors for PGD

We identified 14 protocols on risk factors for PGD. Eight were on both prevalence and risk factors for PGD and were described in the previous section. <sup>(98-101, 103-106)</sup>

Four of the other six protocols focused solely on PGD risk factors, <sup>(136-139)</sup> one was on risk factors and interventions, <sup>(140)</sup> and one was on risk factors and grief reactions. <sup>(141)</sup>

One of the six protocols was for a completed review not yet published, which focused on staff, fellow residents and families following deaths in care homes. <sup>(140)</sup> Two of the other five protocols reviews examined PGD risk factors in adults without limiting to a specific cause of death, <sup>(136, 137)</sup> and another focused on adults bereaved by violent or unnatural death. <sup>(138)</sup> The remaining two protocols focused on adult family members of individuals who died during epidemics <sup>(141)</sup> or who died in the ICU. <sup>(139)</sup>

## **General grief reactions – reviews**

We identified 37 reviews on factors that may impact on grief in general and/or individual adjustment following bereavement - general grief reactions. Thirty-one of the 37 reviews also focused on PGD prevalence, risk factors for PGD, grief/bereavement experiences and/or intervention effectiveness and these are reported elsewhere. Here we report on the six reviews that focused solely on general grief reactions. <sup>(142-147)</sup> One of the six reviews investigated the association between aspects of marital relationship and parents' adjustment to the loss of a child.<sup>(142)</sup> Another review also focused on bereaved parents and examined the relationship between feelings of guilt, shame and self-blame and grief intensity as well as adjustment to loss. <sup>(143)</sup> The factors associated with an adaptive or maladaptive grief response in children who lost a parent or sibling due to cancer was investigated in one review. <sup>(146)</sup> One review reported on adjustment to spousal bereavement amongst older adults in Western cultures in the Northern Hemisphere <sup>(147)</sup> and another examined resilience as a protective factor for coping with grief. <sup>(144)</sup> The remaining review examined the association between adjustment to be eavement amongst USA college students and spirituality/religiosity.<sup>(145)</sup>

## General grief reactions – protocols

Six protocols focused on general grief reactions, two of which also focused on PGD and have been described previously. <sup>(106, 141)</sup> The other four focused solely on general grief reactions were added to PROSPERO from 2018 to 2022. <sup>(148-151)</sup> Two of the four protocols focused on carers, one comparing deaths from terminal illness at home and in hospital <sup>(148)</sup> and the other examining deaths from Motor Neurone Disease. <sup>(151)</sup> Another protocol focused on adult family or friends of people who died by homicide. <sup>(150)</sup> The remaining protocol examined how bereavement affects neurocognition. <sup>(149)</sup>

## REVIEWS ON GRIEF AND BEREAVEMENT EXPERIENCES INCLUDING THE NEEDS OF BEREAVED PEOPLE AND BARRIERS TO ACCESSING GRIEF SERVICES

#### Summary of reviews and protocols

- Number of publications: one hundred and three reviews and 44 protocols focused on grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people and barriers to accessing grief services. One of the reviews was a review of reviews. One protocol was for a review of reviews and two were for reviews that had been completed but not yet published.
- Specific relationship to the deceased: forty-three reviews focused on parents, mothers or fathers, a defined group of parents and other family members, or parents and health professionals. Six reviews focused on informal carers; 11 were solely on individuals who had a professional relationship to the deceased or their relatives; six were on the spouse or partner of the deceased; five were on the children or siblings of the deceased only; one was on bereaved children and spouses; one was daughters after the death of their mothers; and one was on co-workers. We identified 19 protocols focused on parents or a defined grouping of parents and other family members or parents/family and health professionals. We also identified five protocols on informal carers; four were on healthcare professionals only; two were on siblings only; one was on co-workers; one was on the spouse or partner of the deceased; and one was on the next of kin.
- Other personal characteristics of the bereaved: fifteen reviews had a focus on adults only. Three reviews had a specific focus on older adults (60+ years old), and one synthesised findings from studies of widowed individuals under 50 years old only. Seven reviews focused on children or young people (two of which did not focus on a specific relationship). Eight reviews had a focus on marginalised or minority populations. Thirteen protocols focused on adults only and one was on children or young people. Two protocols focused on marginalised or minority populations.
- **Cause or type of death/specific setting:** twenty-three reviews focused on perinatal death; 14 were on terminal/advanced illness; and 13 were on suicide. Other reviews focused on: assisted suicide (n=3); violent or unnatural death (n=2); drug use (n=2); and sudden or unexpected death (n=1). Nine reviews focused on various hospital settings (n=8) or long-term care (n=1). Twelve protocols focused on perinatal deaths; eight were on terminal illnesses including one on suicide in people with dementia; and five others were on suicide; one was on COVID-19 (n=1) and one was on sudden death (n=1). Two protocols focused on deaths in specific hospital settings (n=2).
- **Geographical area:** twenty-two reviews focused on a specific geographical area: high-income countries including the UK and the USA (n=14); low-income countries including sub-Saharan Africa or other 'high burden' countries, which

were defined as ones with a high perinatal death rate (n=3); high- and middleincome countries (n=1); low- and middle-income countries (n=2); China, Hong Kong or immigrants in Western countries (n=1) and Asia-Pacific countries (n=1). Two protocols focused on low- and middle-income countries; and one aimed to present findings separately for low-, middle- and high-income countries.

## **Overview of reviews**

We identified one review of reviews <sup>(152)</sup> and 102 standard reviews addressing individuals' experiences of grief and bereavement. Seventy-four reviews reported solely on grief and bereavement experiences. One review of reviews and 28 other standard reviews reported grief/bereavement experiences plus findings on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions and/or PGD prevalence, PGD risk factors or general grief reactions. <sup>(80, 81, 93, 120, 121, 133, 135, 152-173)</sup> (see also Table A, Appendix 3, page 89).

## **Review characteristics**

## **Review of reviews**

One review of reviews reported findings from 12 reviews on parental experiences of perinatal loss in the UK or other high-income countries.<sup>(152)</sup>

## **Standard reviews**

Seven of the 102 standard reviews reported evidence on grief/bereavement experiences as well as PGD prevalence and/or risk factors for the condition and these were described previously. <sup>(80, 81, 93, 120, 121, 133, 135)</sup> Briefly, two of the seven reviews explored individuals' experiences following euthanasia/medically assisted death <sup>(120, 135)</sup> and one focused on the families of organ donors. <sup>(121)</sup> Three reviews focused on the experiences of: students in higher education; <sup>(80)</sup> older widows and widowers aged 60+ years <sup>(81)</sup> and children in sub-Saharan Africa following violent, sudden or traumatic death. <sup>(133)</sup> The remaining review focused on the experiences of informal carers of patients in any hospice or palliative/end-of-life care setting in North America. <sup>(93)</sup> The remaining 95 reviews that reported grief/bereavement experiences are described in the following sections.

## Experiences of bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased

#### **Experiences of informal carers**

Five out of the 95 reviews reported the grief/bereavement experiences of family carers. <sup>(73, 154, 174-176)</sup> Two reviews focused on the informal carers of patients who had Alzheimer's disease and related dementias; <sup>(154)</sup> or cancer (high grade glioma). <sup>(176)</sup> Two others focused on the carers of patients who died in acute hospital settings; <sup>(73)</sup> or who
received palliative care, <sup>(175)</sup> One remaining review explored the experiences of carers following euthanasia/medically assisted death. <sup>(174)</sup>

#### **Experiences of parents**

In total, 42 standard reviews reported the experiences of bereaved parents, of which 21 focused solely on them. <sup>(72, 75, 162, 164, 177-193)</sup> Ten reviews focused on a defined family grouping comprising parents and other family members such as siblings, and grandparents. <sup>(158, 163, 167, 169, 194-199)</sup> Three reviews included the experiences of both parents and health professionals. <sup>(200-202)</sup> Four reviews focused on studies conducted with mothers; <sup>(166, 203, 204, 205)</sup> and four others focused on fathers. <sup>(171, 206-208)</sup>

Twenty-two out of 42 reviews reporting parental experiences focused on perinatal loss including miscarriage and stillbirth. <sup>(72, 75, 163, 166, 171, 177, 178, 180, 182, 184, 185, 187, 188, 194, 196, 200, 201, 203-206, 208)</sup> Five reviews reported on experiences after death from a specific health condition: four focusing on cancer <sup>(169, 183, 186, 189)</sup> and one on chronic life-limiting conditions. <sup>(181)</sup> Other reviews reported on: suicide; <sup>(167, 199)</sup> and drug death bereavement. <sup>(198)</sup>

Two reviews focused on parental experiences after the death of a child in healthcare settings. <sup>(158, 195)</sup> Ten other reviews that explored experiences following the death of a child did not focus on a specific cause of death or setting. <sup>(162, 164, 179, 190-193, 197, 202, 207)</sup>

Nine of the reviews on parental bereavement focused on a specific aspect of experience or the support provided to the bereaved. Two explored spirituality, <sup>(177, 205)</sup> and another two focused on follow-up conversations and ongoing connections with healthcare professionals. <sup>(169, 202)</sup> The other five reviews focused on: workplace support strategies and accommodations for bereaved parents; <sup>(190)</sup> experiences in the workplace following perinatal loss; <sup>(187)</sup> informal sources of support; <sup>(191)</sup> seeing and holding a stillborn baby; <sup>(184)</sup> and memory making. <sup>(75)</sup>

#### Experiences of children and young people

Five reviews focused on the experiences of bereaved children, adolescents or young adults. <sup>(74, 157, 172, 209, 210)</sup> One of these five reviews explored experiences following a death of a sibling by suicide and focused on the USA only. <sup>(74)</sup> One explored how bereaved young people develop a continuing bond with deceased family members. <sup>(209)</sup> Another specifically investigated sex differences in adolescent grief-related behaviour. <sup>(172)</sup> The other two reviews focused on coping by children after the death of a sibling <sup>(157)</sup> and/or parents or other family members. <sup>(210)</sup> One of these two reviews also sought to explore the implications for teachers and schools in terms of providing support to bereaved children. <sup>(210)</sup>

We also identified a review on daughters' experiences of maternal bereavement, which had a particular focus on adolescents. However, this review did include studies with individuals who were bereaved at a much older age. <sup>(211)</sup> One review explored the support experiences of both parentally bereaved children and the surviving spouse. <sup>(212)</sup>

#### **Experiences of spouses/partners**

Five reviews focused on the experiences of the spouse/partner of the deceased. <sup>(161, 173, 213-215)</sup> Two of the four reviews applied age restrictions; one focused on individuals aged 50 years or less; <sup>(213)</sup> and one explored spousal bereavement amongst older adults 65 years or older living in mainland China and Hong Kong or who migrated to a Western country. <sup>(173)</sup> Another review focused on lesbian, gay, bisexual and/or trans\* people, <sup>(214)</sup> and one explored the experiences of widows from the Latino community in the USA. <sup>(161)</sup> The remaining review reported the experiences of surviving caregivers of children in parentally bereaved families. <sup>(215)</sup>

#### **Experiences of professionals**

Eleven reviews focused on individuals who had a professional relationship to the deceased or their relatives. <sup>(155, 156, 216-224)</sup> Seven of the eleven reviews reported the personal bereavement experiences of health and/or education or social care professionals following the death of a patient or client. <sup>(155, 156, 216-219, 221)</sup> The other four reviews explored the experiences of professionals who provided support to bereaved individuals. <sup>(220, 222-224)</sup> Two of these four reviews focused on nurses who cared for bereaved families in acute care <sup>(222)</sup> or in critical care settings. <sup>(224)</sup> One review reported the experiences of staff in local health and welfare services who assisted families bereaved as a result of a drug-related death. <sup>(223)</sup> Another explored the experiences of staff supporting people who have a learning disability with grief and bereavement. <sup>(220)</sup>

#### **Experiences of co-workers**

One review focused on the experiences of co-workers after the suicide of a colleague.  $_{\scriptscriptstyle (225)}$ 

# Experiences of bereaved individuals with a general or non-specific relationship to the deceased

Twenty-four of the 95 reviews had a generic focus on 'family' or 'family and friends' or which focused on a non-specific group of bereaved individuals.

Eight of the 24 reviews synthesised evidence on experiences following a death by suicide. <sup>(153, 159, 168, 226-230)</sup> One of these eight reviews focused solely on the experiences of adolescents. <sup>(153)</sup> Four had a primary focus on a specific aspect of bereavement, or the support provided to individuals after a suicide death. These reviews focused on public stigma and the bereavement experiences of suicide survivors; <sup>(159)</sup> continuing bonds with the deceased; <sup>(226)</sup> the use and benefits of online resources for suicide survivors; <sup>(168)</sup> or social interactions whilst grieving a suicide death. <sup>(227)</sup> One other review explored bereavement resulting from homicide. <sup>(231)</sup>

Five of the 24 reviews focused on experiences after death from a 'terminal', 'advanced' or 'life-limiting' illness; <sup>(232-234)</sup> cancer; <sup>(235)</sup> or pandemic or infectious disease. <sup>(236)</sup> One of these five reviews focused specifically on the experiences of families following child death in hospice care <sup>(234)</sup> and another addressed experiences of anticipatory grief. <sup>(233)</sup>

Another one of the five reviews had a primary focus on social and structural inequity in bereavement. <sup>(232)</sup>

Three reviews explored the experiences of specific groups of individuals; one of these reviews focused on adult Latino/a groups.<sup>(237)</sup> Another explored the impact of faith and spirituality on the grief of sexually diverse individuals.<sup>(238)</sup> The third review examined the existing literature on bereavement care in the UK for ethnic minority communities.<sup>(239)</sup> We also identified another review with a specific focus on UK bereavement care, which reported findings on people's experiences and needs.<sup>(165)</sup>

We identified three other reviews focused on a specific health care setting; one review addressed the management of complicated grief and bereavement in primary care, which had a focus on the UK. <sup>(240)</sup> The other two reviews explored the experiences of families in hospital settings <sup>(241)</sup> and in the emergency department. <sup>(242)</sup>

Three other reviews examined the evidence on a specific issue related to grief and bereavement; one review investigated how accurately the Dual Process Model of Coping with Bereavement represents individuals' lived experience <sup>(160)</sup> and another explored the use of humour by people who are grieving. <sup>(243)</sup> The third review examined the factors that determine when individuals provide support to a bereaved person. <sup>(170)</sup>

## Protocols – grief and bereavement experiences

We identified 44 protocols focused on experiences, two of which were for reviews that had been completed but not yet published. <sup>(244, 245)</sup> The two completed reviews focused on adult families of older people who died in residential aged care <sup>(244)</sup> and the use of bereavement photography after a stillbirth. <sup>(245)</sup> Another protocol was for a review of reviews that will report on fathers' experience of stillbirth. <sup>(246)</sup>

Of the remaining 41 protocols, 34 focused solely on experiences, while the other seven focused on experiences and interventions or their implementation. <sup>(247-253)</sup> Six of the 41 protocols were added to PROSPERO before 2019; <sup>(251, 254-258)</sup> and the remaining 35 were added between 2019 and 2022.

# Protocols focused on the experiences of bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased

Thirty-one of the 41 protocols for ongoing standard reviews of experiences specified a relationship with the deceased.

#### **Experiences of informal carers**

Five of the 31 protocols focused on informal carers; one of which also investigated interventions and had a specific focus on carers of people who died from dementia.<sup>(253)</sup> The other four all involved the same group of investigators and focused solely on the

experiences of older adults, middle-aged adults, young adults, or LGBT+ informal carers of people who died from any cause.<sup>(259-262)</sup>

#### **Experiences of professionals**

Four protocols focused on the experiences of healthcare professionals. <sup>(247, 256, 263, 264)</sup> One of these focused on clinicians' experiences after a patient suicide as well as strategies to mitigate the impact. <sup>(247)</sup> Two others explored healthcare professionals' experiences after the death of a patient from any cause; <sup>(256, 264)</sup> one specifically in paediatric healthcare. <sup>(256)</sup> The final protocol focused on midwives experiences after stillbirth. <sup>(263)</sup>

#### Experiences of professionals and family

Four protocols focused on the experiences of health professionals and parents or families. <sup>(251, 257, 265, 266)</sup> Two focused on parents, families and healthcare professionals in low- and middle-income countries after stillbirth. <sup>(257)</sup> or neonatal death. <sup>(266)</sup> One was on the experiences of parents and health professionals after a perinatal death, <sup>(265)</sup> and the fourth protocol was on the experiences and postvention for bereaved family members or health professionals after the suicide of a relative with dementia. <sup>(251)</sup>

#### **Experiences of co-workers**

One protocol focused on the experiences of co-workers after a colleague died by suicide. <sup>(267)</sup>

#### Experiences of next of kin

One protocol explored the experiences of support received by 'next of kin' after death in hospital.<sup>(268)</sup>

#### Gender-specific parenthood

Three of the 31 protocols were on gender-specific parents. Two were on fathers; one on neonatal deaths; <sup>(254)</sup>, and the other was on deaths from terminal illness. <sup>(269)</sup> One was on mothers after miscarriage. <sup>(255)</sup>

#### Experiences of parents with and without other family

Ten protocols had a focus on parents with and without other family. <sup>(249, 250, 258, 270-276)</sup> Three of these reviews focused on the experiences of parents of children who died from terminal illness, <sup>(271, 272, 274)</sup> one of which also included grandparents and siblings and focused on cancer deaths. <sup>(271)</sup>

Four other protocols focused on perinatal deaths. <sup>(249, 273, 275, 276)</sup> One was on mothers, fathers or siblings after stillbirth, <sup>(276)</sup> and another also on parents after stillbirth, will analyse findings by the income status of countries (high-, low-, or middle-income countries). <sup>(273)</sup> One protocol was on mothers and/or family members after miscarriage or other types of pregnancy loss, and also focused on the impact of psychological

interventions on these individuals. <sup>(249)</sup> The fourth protocol focused specifically on the experiences of parents after a death in the neonatal intensive care unit. <sup>(275)</sup>

One of the ten protocols focused on bereaved parents or siblings of children who died in hospital and aimed to examine the effectiveness of existing bereavement follow-up interventions for these families. <sup>(250)</sup> Another was on the experiences of parents or other immediate family members after the suicide of a relative. <sup>(270)</sup> The remaining protocol aimed to better understand post-traumatic growth experienced by bereaved parents, but this protocol was published in 2015 so is likely to have been completed or discontinued. <sup>(258)</sup>

#### **Experiences of siblings**

Two protocols focused on siblings bereaved by any cause; one was on adult siblings  $^{\scriptscriptstyle (277)}$  and the other on children.  $^{\scriptscriptstyle (278)}$ 

#### Experiences of spouses or partners

One protocol was on the experiences and any intervention for bereaved older adult spouses or partners.<sup>(252)</sup>

# Protocols focused on the experiences of bereaved individuals with a general or non-specific relationship to the deceased

Five protocols specified any type of family relationship. <sup>(279-283)</sup> These five protocols focused on: family after the suicide of a relative; <sup>(279)</sup> adult family grief during the COVID-19 pandemic; <sup>(283)</sup> adult refugees; <sup>(280)</sup> older adults; <sup>(281)</sup> and family members after the sudden death of an adult relative. <sup>(282)</sup>

Five other protocols did not specify a relationship with the deceased. <sup>(248, 284-287)</sup> One of these focused on the experiences of individuals, bereaved by suicide, who attend peer support groups, <sup>(284)</sup> and one was on experiences after a death from cancer. <sup>(287)</sup> The remaining three protocols did not specify a cause of death; one focused on adults' experiences of continuing bonds in adaptation to bereavement; <sup>(285)</sup> one had a specific focus on bereaved adults' quality of life; <sup>(286)</sup> and the third was on nurses' competence in grief counselling and the factors that affect it. <sup>(248)</sup>

# Reviews on equity issues in relation to access to bereavement support services

The DHSC was interested in identifying equity issues in relation to access to bereavement support services. We examined in greater depth five reviews focused on the experiences of marginalised or minority populations to identify whether they reported any findings on access to, or use of, support services. <sup>(161, 214, 232, 237, 239)</sup> Three of the reviews had a strong focus on equity. <sup>(214, 232, 239)</sup>

The review by Mayland et al. examined bereavement care in the UK for ethnic minority communities. It identified barriers and facilitators to accessing care, explored satisfaction with service provision and investigated whether any models of care provision exist for addressing the bereavement specific needs of ethnic minority communities. <sup>(239)</sup> Bindley et al. examined the existing literature on bereavement and structural vulnerability. They reported evidence on the way in which unequal social status, related to gender, class, sexuality, ethnicity and age, influences access to, and use of, bereavement support and interactions with institutions. <sup>(232)</sup> The review by Bristowe et al. reported evidence on the barriers and stressors experienced by LGBT+ individuals in accessing support following the loss of a partner. <sup>(214)</sup>

The other two reviews also reported findings related to service access or use, both of which were focused on members of the Latino community. <sup>(161, 237)</sup> These reviews examined factors, such as cultural values, that are potentially important in terms of relationships with health care providers, the provision of services and help-seeking from formal services. One of the reviews also reported findings on individuals' perceptions and satisfaction with services. <sup>(237)</sup>

We also identified nine reviews that explored gendered experiences of grief and bereavement. <sup>(166, 171, 203-208, 211)</sup> Seven of these reviews explored experiences after perinatal loss, including miscarriage and stillbirth, of which four focused on mothers only, <sup>(166, 203-205)</sup> and three focused on fathers only. <sup>(171, 206, 208)</sup> Another review explored the experiences of fathers following the death of a child under 21 years old but excluded studies of miscarriage and stillbirth. <sup>(207)</sup> The remaining review focused on daughters' experiences of maternal bereavement. <sup>(211)</sup> Six of the nine reviews reported findings on individuals' experiences of using health services. <sup>(166, 171, 203, 204, 206, 208)</sup>

# Protocols – equity issues

We identified two protocols focused on the experiences of vulnerable populations. <sup>(262, 280)</sup> One aimed to explore the support offered, and given, to bereaved LGBT+ carers and the extent to which it matches their needs. <sup>(262)</sup> The other protocol aimed to synthesise evidence on the experiences and needs of bereaved adult refugees. <sup>(280)</sup>

Four protocols were for reviews (including one review of reviews) that will potentially report evidence on the gendered experiences of bereaved mothers <sup>(255)</sup> or fathers <sup>(246, 254, 269)</sup> in relation to service use or their support needs.

Three protocols focused on the bereavement experiences of older people. <sup>(252, 259, 281)</sup> One of these three was for a review that aimed to identify the barriers and enablers to use of formal health services for older bereaved individuals. <sup>(281)</sup> Another also focused on older bereaved adults and access to support services. Specifically, it aimed to explore the support offered and given to bereaved elderly carers. <sup>(259)</sup> The third was for a review that is examining frailty amongst bereaved spouses/partners aged 60 years and older. <sup>(252)</sup>

# REVIEWS ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERVENTIONS FOR PREVENTING OR TREATING PGD

#### Summary of reviews and protocols

- **Number of publications:** eighty reviews and 38 protocols focused on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions. Three of the 80 reviews were reviews of reviews. Two of the 38 protocols were for reviews that had been completed but not yet published and one was for a review of reviews.
- Specific relationship to the deceased: we identified 23 reviews of interventions for parents, mothers only or a defined grouping of parents and other family members. Other reviews focused on interventions for informal carers (n=8); children or siblings of the deceased (n=6); the spouse or partner of the deceased (n=3); siblings, extended family and members of the community (n=1); and family members, close friends, or coworkers (n=1). Six protocols had a focus on parents, mothers and/or family, and three were on informal carers. Other protocols focused on children or siblings of the deceased only (n=1); children and/or spouse (n=1); health professionals and family (n=1); health professionals only (n=1); spouse or partner (n=1) and care home staff, residents, or family (n=1).
- Other personal characteristics of the deceased: twenty-four reviews focused on interventions for adults and seven had a focus on children or young people (one of which did not focus on a specific relationship). Ten protocols focused on adults and six were on children or young people (five of which did not focus on a specific relationship).
- Cause or type of death/specific setting: fifteen reviews examined interventions following deaths from terminal/advanced illness or other specific health conditions (acute/sudden illness). Thirteen reviews focused on perinatal death; eight were on suicide; and one was on COVID-19. Four reviews focused on specific types of death: violent/unnatural deaths (n=2); sudden/unexpected deaths (n=1); or mass bereavement events (n=1). Six reviews focused on interventions in hospital settings. Five protocols focused on suicide; five were on terminal/advanced illness and five were on perinatal death. One protocol had a focus on sudden, unexpected or traumatic deaths. Two protocols focused on support following deaths in hospital settings, and one focused on care homes.
- **Geographical area:** nine reviews focused on a specific geographical area: highincome countries including the UK and the USA (n=7); low-income countries including sub-Saharan Africa (n=1); and low- and middle-income countries (n=1). Three protocols focused on a specific geographical area: low- or middleincome countries (n=1); high-income countries (n=1); and one focused on Spanish books for children.

## **Overview of reviews**

We identified three reviews of reviews <sup>(152, 288, 289)</sup> and 77 standard reviews reporting on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions and/or their implementation.

Two reviews of reviews <sup>(288, 289)</sup> and 60 standard reviews had a sole focus on effectiveness. One review of reviews and 17 standard reviews reported evidence on effectiveness as well as other relevant findings on grief and bereavement experiences, and/or PGD prevalence, risk factors and general grief reactions <sup>(89, 91, 127, 128, 132-134, 152, 154, 158, 160, 163-169)</sup> (see also Table A, Appendix 3, page 89).

## **Review characteristics**

## **Reviews of reviews**

One review of reviews reported findings from 12 systematic reviews on practices to support parents and other family members following perinatal loss in high-income countries. <sup>(152)</sup> Two other reviews of reviews synthesised evidence on the effectiveness of any grief-related intervention. <sup>(288, 289)</sup> One examined the evidence on 19 types of grief intervention identified from 16 systematic reviews. <sup>(288)</sup> The interventions examined included various types of counselling and other forms of therapy, such as cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), as well as support groups, sending condolence letters, peer support and physical activities. <sup>(288)</sup> The other review of reviews included 18 systematic reviews of bereavement interventions and prioritised 12 for detailed synthesis. <sup>(289)</sup> Included reviews again evaluated a range of interventions, with some focused on specific population groups, formats, or settings. <sup>(289)</sup>

# **Standard reviews**

# Reviews reporting on multiple issues of interest

Seventeen reviews had a focus on intervention effectiveness in addition to reporting other relevant findings (in other words, findings on grief and bereavement experiences, PGD prevalence, risk factors and/or general grief reactions). <sup>(89, 91, 127, 128, 132-134, 154, 158, 160, 163-169)</sup> The relative focus given to intervention effectiveness varied across the 17 reviews.

Four of the 17 reviews focused on interventions and treatment for prolonged grief; specifically in relation to: prolonged grief and substance use; <sup>(91)</sup> adult informal carers in North America experiencing prolonged grief; <sup>(128)</sup> and prolonged grief in people with an intellectual disability. <sup>(89)</sup> The fourth review examined whether interventions addressing sleep disturbances also improved symptoms of prolonged grief. <sup>(127)</sup>

Four reviews addressed specific types of interventions; one review reported on the psychosocial impact of hospital-based bereavement interventions after the death of a child, <sup>(158)</sup> and one assessed the effects of online resources and interventions for people bereaved by suicide. <sup>(168)</sup> Other reviews evaluated bereavement follow-up practices

after the death of a child from cancer, <sup>(169)</sup> and compared the effectiveness of interventions based on the Dual Process Model of Coping with traditional grief therapy. <sup>(160)</sup> We also identified one review that assessed the provision and effectiveness of informal and formal bereavement support in the UK. <sup>(165)</sup>

Six other reviews reported on interventions for individuals after specific types of death. These reviews focused on interventions following: perinatal death; <sup>(132, 163, 166)</sup> loss of a child in low- and middle-income countries; <sup>(164)</sup> dementia; <sup>(154)</sup> and suicide. <sup>(167)</sup>

One review reported evidence on interventions for preventing and/or managing traumatic grief amongst children in sub-Saharan Africa. <sup>(133)</sup> Another investigated the efficacy of psychotherapeutic interventions for tackling loneliness after bereavement, which was identified as a potential risk factor for experiencing difficulties adjusting to loss. <sup>(134)</sup>

#### Reviews only reporting on the effectiveness of interventions

#### Interventions for parents and defined family group

Of the 60 standard reviews that only reported relevant findings on intervention effectiveness, 15 focused primarily on interventions aimed at bereaved parents or a defined family grouping comprising parents and other family members. <sup>(290-304)</sup> One of these 15 reviews evaluated the use of intensive care unit diaries by bereaved relatives (specifically, parents, spouses, daughters, sons and close friends) of adult patients. <sup>(297)</sup> Nine of the other 14 reviews reported on bereavement interventions for parents, or mothers only, after perinatal death. <sup>(291, 292, 294, 296, 298, 299, 301, 303, 304)</sup> Five other reviews examined bereavement interventions for parents following the loss of a child but did not restrict the focus to the perinatal period. <sup>(290, 293, 295, 300, 302)</sup> One of these reviews also included evaluations of interventions for bereaved siblings. <sup>(295)</sup>

In addition to the review focused on the use of ICU diaries described above, a further eight out of the 15 reviews investigated a specific type of intervention. One review assessed the impact of parents having contact with the baby following stillbirth. <sup>(298)</sup> Two reviews focused on nursing-based interventions <sup>(296, 301)</sup> and one examined any intervention for parents delivered by health care professionals. <sup>(300)</sup> Other reviews examined psychosocial <sup>(292, 304)</sup> and psychotherapeutic <sup>(291)</sup> interventions. The remaining review assessed the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy and mindfulness-based interventions to manage symptoms of complicated perinatal grief. <sup>(294)</sup> The other six reviews included studies evaluating any type of intervention for bereaved parents. <sup>(290, 293, 295, 299, 302, 303)</sup> One of these six reviews focused specifically on parents in the neonatal intensive care unit. <sup>(303)</sup>

One other review that focused on interventions following the death of a child explicitly excluded studies with parents. It investigated the effectiveness of bereavement support programmes for siblings, any extended family members (other than parents) and the wider community. <sup>(305)</sup>

#### Interventions for informal carers

Six reviews examined interventions for informal carers. <sup>(76, 306-310)</sup> Two of these reviews examined interventions for informal carers of people who had dementia and reported findings on any grief-focused intervention <sup>(306)</sup> or psychosocial interventions. <sup>(76)</sup>

Two reviews assessed interventions for informal carers of patients who received palliative/end-of-life care. <sup>(307, 310)</sup> One of these two reviews specifically examined group or individual focused bereavement support <sup>(307)</sup> and the other restricted inclusion to studies conducted in Canada. <sup>(310)</sup>

Another review examined bereavement services for the family carers of adults who died in intensive care. <sup>(309)</sup> The remaining review focused on bereavement support interventions for family carers of people who died of COVID-19. <sup>(308)</sup>

#### Interventions for children and young people

Six reviews reported the effects of bereavement support for children, adolescents or young people following the loss of a parent or sibling. <sup>(311-316)</sup> One of these reviews also included interventions targeted at the child's remaining parent. <sup>(311)</sup> Two of the six reviews focused on psychosocial interventions; one of which specifically looked at suicide support groups <sup>(315)</sup> and the other had a focus on deaths from cancer. <sup>(314)</sup> The other four reviews included studies on any form of bereavement support. <sup>(311-313, 316)</sup>

#### Interventions for partner/spouse

Three reviews focused on interventions for bereaved spouses or partners. <sup>(317-319)</sup> One of the three reviews specifically examined the effectiveness of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for bereaved spouses or partners of adults who received palliative care. <sup>(318)</sup>

#### Interventions for other specific relationships

One review evaluated peer support services for adults after the sudden or unexpected death of a close friend, co-worker or family member. <sup>(320)</sup>

#### Interventions for general population groups

Twenty-eight reviews reported on interventions for a general, non-defined group of individuals such as bereaved 'people' or 'family and friends'. <sup>(321-348)</sup> Four of the 28 reviews evaluated bereavement support for relatives/families in intensive/critical care settings <sup>(324, 326, 338, 339)</sup> Two reviews examined interventions in palliative/end of life care, <sup>(329, 337)</sup> or after death from advanced illness. <sup>(330)</sup> One of these three reviews focused specifically on dignity therapy. <sup>(329)</sup>

Three reviews evaluated specific types of support for individuals bereaved by suicide; they assessed suicide postvention service models; <sup>(323)</sup> peer support; <sup>(332)</sup> and community-based support. <sup>(328)</sup> Two other reviews examined the effectiveness of any form of intervention for people who were bereaved by suicide. <sup>(322, 334)</sup>

One review reported evidence on the effectiveness of brief contact interventions.<sup>(336)</sup> Other reviews assessed the effectiveness of visual art modalities; <sup>(344)</sup> online peer support groups; <sup>(341)</sup> adult bereavement groups; <sup>(335)</sup> grief counselling; <sup>(343)</sup> and structured or formal bereavement services. <sup>(346)</sup> Another review investigated whether physical activity-based interventions can improve grief-related outcomes. <sup>(345)</sup>

Eight of the 28 reviews focused primarily on the effectiveness of interventions for individuals identified as having more complex needs or experiencing more severe grief symptoms. <sup>(321, 325, 327, 333, 340, 342, 347, 348)</sup> Three reviews specifically examined treatments for prolonged grief; these focused on: psychotherapy-based interventions for complicated grief; <sup>(327)</sup> exposure and non-exposure-based treatments for concurrent PTSD and PGD; <sup>(325)</sup> and interventions that incorporate rituals and ritualised acts for prolonged grief and/or PTSD. <sup>(347)</sup> Others did not specifically focus on PGD, but included evaluations of interventions that could be used as treatments. This included internet/mobile-based interventions; <sup>(342, 348)</sup> psychological interventions for bereaved adults <sup>(333)</sup> and relatives of homicide victims; <sup>(321)</sup> and psychotherapy and psychotropic interventions. <sup>(340)</sup>

#### System-level interventions

One review explored system-level responses to bereavement support following major disaster events in order to inform service provision and policy following the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition to evidence on effectiveness, the review also reported findings on the organisation and implementation of programmes and described common features of valued services. <sup>(331)</sup>

# Protocols – effectiveness of interventions

We identified 38 protocols on the effectiveness of interventions and/or their implementation. Seven of the 38 protocols focused on both experiences and interventions, and these were described in the previous section. <sup>(247-253)</sup> Another protocol described previously was for a completed review still to be published on PGD risk factors and interventions related to deaths in care homes. <sup>(140)</sup>

Thirty of the 38 protocols were focused solely on interventions and/or implementation. One of these was a protocol for a review that was completed but not yet published, which focused on grief interventions for young people aged between 14 and 24 years old. <sup>(349)</sup> Another was for a review of reviews examining the efficacy of psychotherapeutic bereavement interventions. <sup>(350)</sup> Of the other 28 protocols, all but three were added to PROSPERO between 2019-2022; one was added in 2017, <sup>(351)</sup> and two in 2018. <sup>(352, 353)</sup>

#### Interventions for bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased

Of the 28 protocols for ongoing standard reviews of interventions only, eight focused on bereaved individuals with a specific relationship to the deceased. <sup>(351, 352, 354-359)</sup> Two of the eight protocols focused on family carers; one was on music therapy for adult informal carers before and after a death from any life-threatening illness  $^{(355)}$  and the other was on interventions before and after a death from dementia.  $^{(358)}$ 

Four of the protocols were on parents; one focused on interventions for mothers after miscarriage, <sup>(352)</sup> and one was on psychosocial interventions for parents after perinatal death. <sup>(357)</sup> Another also focused on perinatal death, examining technology-based psychosocial interventions for bereaved parents and other family members. <sup>(356)</sup> The other protocol focused solely on the availability of interventions for mothers in low- or middle-income countries after stillbirth. <sup>(354)</sup> The remaining two protocols involved children; one was on psychosocial interventions for children and/or their surviving parent, <sup>(351)</sup> and the other was on activity-based interventions for children after the death of a parent, carer or sibling. <sup>(359)</sup>

# Interventions for bereaved individuals with a general or non-specific relationship to the deceased

Four protocols had a generic focus on family. <sup>(360-363)</sup> One of the four focused on CBT for adult family members bereaved through any cause. <sup>(363)</sup> The remaining three protocols had no restriction on the type of intervention; these focused on family bereaved due to terminal illness, <sup>(360)</sup> sudden death, <sup>(362)</sup> or following a death in the ICU. <sup>(361)</sup>

Of the 16 protocols with no specific relationship focus, four focused on interventions for individuals bereaved by suicide. <sup>(364-367)</sup> Two of these focused on peer support interventions; one for young people (aged 13 to 30 years) <sup>(364)</sup> and the other for anyone bereaved by suicide. <sup>(365)</sup> One protocol was on suicide postvention services <sup>(366)</sup> and the fourth protocol focused on any intervention for suicide bereavement. <sup>(367)</sup>

Ten protocols focused on specific types of support after bereavement. Three focused on CBT for adults experiencing symptoms of PGD. <sup>(353, 368, 369)</sup> Four protocols examined psychological or psychosocial interventions for grief; <sup>(370-373)</sup> one of these focused specifically on interventions for children and adolescents; <sup>(370)</sup> one was on interventions for adults <sup>(371)</sup> and one on online interventions for adults. <sup>(373)</sup> Another protocol was for a review that aims to conduct a network meta-analysis of interventions for prolonged grief. <sup>(374)</sup> We also identified one protocol focused on physical activity-based bereavement interventions for older adults, <sup>(375)</sup> and one on nature-based interventions. <sup>(376)</sup>

Two protocols focused on the implementation of interventions only – one was on the availability of children's story books in Spanish for bereaved children, <sup>(377)</sup> and the other aimed to identify the facilitators and barriers to community-based bereavement interventions for children and young people in high-income countries. <sup>(378)</sup>

# Optimum time to access bereavement support services to prevent PGD

The DHSC was interested in identifying evidence on the optimum time to access bereavement support services in order to prevent PGD. Where reported, time since loss varied considerably between reviews and across studies within reviews; it commonly ranged from a few days, weeks or months to several years or even decades post loss. Nineteen reviews reported some findings relating to the potential influence of time since loss on the effectiveness of grief-related interventions or highlighted a lack of evidence about intervention timing and effectiveness. <sup>(127, 128, 158, 160, 165, 290, 291, 293, 298, 299, 320, 321, 324, 327, 330, 332, 333, 339, 343)</sup> We did not identify any evidence relating specifically to the optimum time to access support to prevent the development of PGD.

# PRIMARY STUDIES ON THE TYPES OF BEREAVEMENT SUPPORT SERVICES AVAILABLE IN THE UK

## Summary of primary studies

- **Number of studies:** sixteen primary studies reported on bereavement support services in the UK.
- Year of publication: most studies (n=9) were published after 2019. One study was published in 2019 and another in 2018; five studies were published between 2015 and 2017.
- **Primary focus**: most studies (n=11) reported findings on the type of support provided by different organisations. Studies also reported: the availability of services (n=9); staff views about provision (n=6); service delivery issues (n=5); barriers to accessing services (n=2); and the socioeconomic costs of bereavement (n=1).
- **Specific relationship to the deceased:** four studies focused on support for bereaved parents. Other studies had a specific focus on support for family carers (n=1); spouse (n=1), or partner and child (n=1).
- **Type of provision:** half of the studies focused on services after a specific cause of death or deaths in a specific setting (n=8). Five studies focused on the provision of general services and three others reported on service provision during the COVID-19 pandemic.

# **Overview of primary studies**

We identified 16 primary studies on the type and nature of bereavement support services in the UK. Of the 16 primary studies, four were conducted in England only, <sup>(379-382)</sup> three were carried out in Scotland only, <sup>(383-385)</sup> and one focused on Wales only. <sup>(386)</sup> One was conducted in England and Wales; <sup>(387)</sup> and one in the UK and Ireland. <sup>(388)</sup> The remaining six studies included the whole of the UK. <sup>(69, 389-393)</sup>

# Year of publication

Table 5 shows the publication year for the included primary studies. A majority of studies (9/16) were published in the last three years (2020-2023). <sup>(69, 380, 382, 383, 387-391)</sup> Five of the remaining seven studies were published between 2015 and 2017. <sup>(379, 381, 384, 385, 392)</sup> One study was published in 2018 <sup>(393)</sup> and another in 2019. <sup>(386)</sup>

Table 5: Year of publication for UK primary studies

Year	Number of studies
2022	2
2021	3
2020	4
2019	1
2018	1
2017	2
2016	1
2015	2

## **Study details**

Thirteen studies collected data from community or voluntary organisations/groups, local authorities, NHS trusts, hospices or professional staff, such as midwives, or GPs.  $^{(379-382, 384, 386-393)}$  Two studies collected data from organisations and the bereaved  $^{(69, 383)}$ and one study was a secondary analysis of relevant datasets.  $^{(385)}$  Sample size ranged from 20 units  $^{(384)}$  to over 30,000 school children.  $^{(69)}$  Where applicable and reported (n=10) the response rate ranged from 20%  $^{(387)}$  to 90%.  $^{(384)}$ 

# **Primary focus**

Table 6 shows the primary focus of included studies. Eleven of the 16 studies focused on the type of support offered by different healthcare settings and professionals. <sup>(69, 379, 3<sup>81, 383, 384, 386, 387, 389, 391-393)</sup> Nine studies explored the availability of bereavement services and support. <sup>(380, 382, 383, 386-388, 390-392)</sup> Six studies reported staff views on bereavement support and provision offered; <sup>(69, 379, 381, 388, 390, 392)</sup> and five investigated service delivery issues and challenges. <sup>(379, 382, 383, 389, 391)</sup> Two studies reported findings on barriers to accessing services including during the COVID-19 pandemic. <sup>(69, 382)</sup> One study focused on socioeconomic costs of bereavement. <sup>(385)</sup></sup>

Table 6: Primary focus of included studies

First author (year)	Type of support	Availability of services	Staff views	Service delivery	Barriers to access	Costs
Berry (2017)	Х		х	x		
Cameron (2020)	х	х		x		
Cockle-Hearne (2022)	х			х		
Hackett (2021)		х	Х			
Independent age (2021)		x				
Irvine (2015)	х					
Murray (2020)	х	х				
NBA (2020)	x	х		x		
O'Brien (2016)	х		х			
Ochieng (2019)	х	х				
Pearce (2021)		х	x			
Sands (2017)	х	x	х			
Sands (2018)	х					
Stephen (2015)						х
UK Commission (2022)	x		x		x	
Wakefield (2020)		x		×	x	
Total	11	9	6	5	2	1

## Study characteristics

#### Primary studies of specific services

Eight of the 16 studies focused on services following a specific cause or type of death or deaths in a specific setting. Three studies examined bereavement services following deaths from terminal illness. <sup>(381, 389, 390)</sup> Two of the three studies also focused specifically on provision in hospices. <sup>(389, 390)</sup> One of these studies conducted a survey of UK hospices for adults to determine the bereavement support provided to families with dependent children before and after the death of a parent and to identify service delivery issues. <sup>(389)</sup> The other focused on the availability in UK hospices of cold rooms or cooling facilities for bereaved parents after the loss of a child. This study also explored staff views on these facilities and organisational policies and practices regarding their use. <sup>(390)</sup> The third study on terminal illness surveyed staff working with family carers of people who died from motor neurone disease about the support offered and staff views on provision. <sup>(381)</sup>

Three studies focused on perinatal deaths. <sup>(384, 392, 393)</sup> Two of these studies were UK wide audits of care conducted by the charity Sands, <sup>(392)</sup> and Sands together with the Bliss charity. <sup>(393)</sup> One of the two studies surveyed the heads of midwifery nationally to identify the bereavement care provision offered in maternity units. <sup>(392)</sup> The other study focused on the types of support offered to bereaved parents in 100 UK neonatal units. <sup>(393)</sup> The third study surveyed 20 out of 22 early pregnancy or maternity units in Scotland to identify the proportion that offered a memorial service and other forms of support following a miscarriage. <sup>(384)</sup>

One study addressed best practice and services available for individuals bereaved by suicide with a particular focus on Scotland. <sup>(383)</sup> Another study investigated the provision of bereavement care in adult intensive care units in England and also explored delivery issues and staff views. <sup>(379)</sup>

#### Primary studies of general services

Five studies reported on the general provision of bereavement services rather than focusing on support following a specific cause or type of death. <sup>(69, 380, 382, 385, 386)</sup> One study surveyed organisations in Wales on the type of bereavement support offered and the availability of services. <sup>(386)</sup> Another explored the availability and accessibility of bereavement services across the North East of England through a survey of relevant organisations and GPs. <sup>(382)</sup> The UK Commission on Bereavement conducted an online survey of bereaved adults and children as well as UK organisations. <sup>(69)</sup> It reported on various issues including types of support, barriers to access; and staff views about bereavement support. Over 60% of the adults who responded to the survey were bereaved during the COVID-19 pandemic. <sup>(69)</sup>

One study submitted a freedom of information request to all Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local Authorities in England to identify their approaches to commissioning services, the current demand for support locally, and the availability of services.  $^{(380)}$ Another study involved a secondary data analysis of the socioeconomic costs of bereavement services in Scotland, which used both Scottish and British data on spousal bereavement (n=15,007) from 1991 to 2009, including GP, hospital and social care.  $^{(385)}$ 

#### Primary studies of general services and the COVID-19 pandemic

Three other studies reported findings related specifically to service provision and the COVID-19 pandemic. <sup>(387, 388, 391)</sup> One surveyed UK community and voluntary organisations to explore the type of support offered and availability of services for

BAME communities and the impact of the pandemic on provision. <sup>(387)</sup> Another explored changes in the availability of bereavement care during the COVID-19 pandemic in hospice, community, and hospital settings across the UK and Ireland. <sup>(388)</sup> The third study examined the response of bereavement services in the voluntary sector to COVID-19. <sup>(391)</sup> This study involved a survey of service managers to identify the type and availability of support services, pressures and gaps in provision, and to investigate the impact of COVID-19 on services and individuals' support needs.

# DISCUSSION

This report provides a high-level descriptive overview of published and ongoing research related to grief, bereavement, and Prolonged Grief Disorder. Our goal was to produce a systematic map of the literature that could be used to inform decisions about the need for further research. We found evidence relevant to a range of questions of interest to the DHSC across 209 systematic reviews, three reviews of reviews, 96 protocols and 16 primary studies.

We grouped reviews and protocols according to the type of evidence they focused on. When categorising reviews, consideration was given to the context and aim of the work as well as the findings reported. There exists a degree of overlap between categories in terms of the nature of reported findings. For example, the categories of grief/bereavement experiences and intervention effectiveness both included some reviews that reported qualitative findings on people's perceptions of services and the benefits/impacts of specific interventions.

# What review-level evidence is available on the extent and nature of Prolonged Grief Disorder?

We identified 22 reviews and 12 protocols focused on the prevalence of prolonged grief. Most reviews reported evidence on both PGD prevalence and factors that potentially influence the risk of developing the disorder. Reviews reported prevalence estimates for a broad range of bereaved population groups and causes of death. These often focused on individuals who are potentially more vulnerable to developing grief-related problems such as bereaved parents and following various types of death including violent deaths, suicides, and deaths from cancer. We identified four protocols with a central focus on the prevalence of prolonged grief amongst individuals bereaved during the COVID-19 pandemic, three of which were also focused on predictors and correlates of PGD.

## What review-level evidence is available on risk factors for PGD?

We identified 42 reviews and 14 protocols which reported risk factors for PGD, correlates/predictors of the disorder or factors moderating its prevalence. The largest proportion of reviews focused on informal carers and deaths from terminal illness including cancer.

There was considerable variation in the range of factors examined by reviews. Approximately a quarter of reviews of risk factors, and one protocol, focused primarily on the impact of a single factor on the development of PGD. These mainly investigated individual-level and interpersonal factors including attachment style; informal social support; cognitive factors; family dynamics; emotional regulation; and loneliness. But we identified one review focused on a cultural factor – suicide stigma.<sup>(124)</sup> Most reviews adopted a broader perspective and reported on multiple risk factors. One review assessed 61 potential risk factors for complicated grief among family members bereaved in the intensive care unit. <sup>(117)</sup>

It was evident that reviews have investigated the relationship between PGD and a broad range of factors. However, the large number of included reviews precluded us from examining in detail, and reporting on, the specific factors that have been assessed in existing studies. Without further analysis, it remains unclear the extent to which reviews have gone beyond a focus on individual and interpersonal-level factors to consider broader social, organisational, cultural and structural factors.

The DHSC was interested in studies that investigated whether the time lag between experiencing bereavement and accessing a support service affects the likelihood of an individual developing PGD. The association between time since loss and the prevalence of prolonged grief has been examined in the literature, see for example, reviews by Djelantik et al.; <sup>(78)</sup> Heeke et al.; <sup>(113)</sup> and Kustanti et al. <sup>(87)</sup> However, it is unclear if specific evidence exists in relation to PGD risk and the length of time between bereavement and accessing support.

# What review-level evidence is available on individuals' grief and bereavement experiences including the needs of bereaved people and barriers to accessing grief services?

There is a large body of literature reporting individuals' experiences of grief and bereavement. In total, we identified 103 reviews, and 44 protocols that reported experiences. It was not possible to extract details about the exact outcomes reported in each included review, but all of them reported findings on one or more of the following issues: use of support services or interactions with health professionals; use of other sources or types of support; barriers to accessing support; equity related to grief/bereavement and the use of services; coping strategies used by the bereaved; post bereavement needs; or factors reported by individuals to facilitate or impair their grieving. Findings in reviews of experiences were commonly derived from studies that used qualitative methods of data collection and analysis, including mixed methods research.

Reviews of individuals' grief and bereavement experiences are potentially valuable for informing policy and practice within the context of minimising PGD. They may facilitate a better understanding of the grieving process and what helps people cope effectively with grief as well as informing the provision of services and the development of interventions. Individual-focused interventions will not be sufficient on their own to reduce the prevalence of prolonged grief on a population level. Evidence on individuals' lived experience of grief and bereavement could be useful for informing organisational change and other preventative efforts intended to address broader social and structural factors that constrain agency and disrupt the process of grieving. Included reviews reported a broad range of experiences, especially in terms of population groups and types of death. However, across both reviews and protocols there was a predominant focus on bereaved parents and other family members following the loss of a child, particularly in the perinatal period. We identified a sizeable number of reviews focused on experiences following common causes of bereavement including suicide (13 reviews and five protocols) and health conditions such as Alzheimer's disease, dementia, cancer, or terminal illness (14 reviews and eight protocols).

#### Equity issues in relation to access

We identified three reviews with a key focus on equity issues relating to bereavement and service provision. These reviews explored the experiences of ethnic minority communities in the UK; <sup>(239)</sup> LGBT+ individuals; <sup>(214)</sup> and individuals considered structurally vulnerable in bereavement. <sup>(232)</sup> Notably, Mayland et al. reported an overall lack of research on bereavement services in the UK for individuals from ethnic minority communities and highlighted a need to strengthen the evidence base. <sup>(239)</sup> Similarly, the review by Bristowe et al., on the bereavement experiences of LGBT+ communities, was limited by a scarcity of research conducted with bereaved bisexual and trans people. They cautioned that the use of the term LGBT to describe research can be misleading when some groups are significantly underrepresented in the sample. <sup>(214)</sup>

The review by Bindley et al. published in 2019 on social and structural inequity in bereavement only identified four studies that were focused on issues related to income, employment and financial circumstances, and three of them were conducted prior to 2012. <sup>(232)</sup> This represents an important gap in the literature especially considering the difficulties in accessing bereavement services reported by individuals on a low-income and their greater reluctance to seek support. <sup>(3, 5)</sup> We are also aware of one qualitative study published in 2022 which found that housing insecurity can negatively impact bereavement and the process of grieving amongst low-income communities in the UK. <sup>(394)</sup> There may be other recently published studies examining the influence of broader socioeconomic determinants and inequities on postbereavement needs, experience and service use, which have not yet been incorporated into evidence reviews. Additional work to identify and synthesise the findings from such studies could be beneficial for informing policy and practice.

More broadly, the literature would potentially benefit from a greater focus on the bereavement experiences and needs of the most marginalised and disadvantaged communities as these individuals, in particular, may have difficulty accessing support and be at higher risk of PGD. This includes people with a range of disabilities; Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities; refugees and asylum seekers; and trans individuals.

In terms of issues related to gender and equity, we identified five reviews exploring the experiences of women only and four focused solely on men. All but one of these reviews focused on women as mothers or men as fathers following the death of a child or a miscarriage. Even the one study not focused on bereaved parents explored the experiences of daughters following the death of their mothers. The lack of reviews on the bereavement experiences of different genders that go beyond a focus on parents, or the child-parent relationship, represents another important evidence gap. Applying a broad gendered lens to the examination of bereavement experiences including service use is important given that some studies have identified a relationship between being a woman and experiencing PGD. <sup>(16, 113)</sup> There is also evidence that men are less likely to seek help and use services when experiencing mental health difficulties, <sup>(395)</sup> which could also include grief-related problems. Gender socialisation is recognised to play a key role in the responses of men and women to bereavement. <sup>(396, 397)</sup>

# What review-level evidence is available on the effectiveness of interventions for preventing or treating PGD?

We identified 80 reviews and 38 protocols that reported on the effectiveness of grieffocused interventions and/or their implementation. We did not identify any reviews focused primarily on the cost-effectiveness of interventions. Evaluated interventions were often aimed at groups of individuals considered to be at increased risk of PGD such as informal carers, bereaved parents and individuals bereaved by suicide.

Reviews have evaluated a wide range of different interventions, almost all of which focused on the individual level. There is a paucity of evidence concerning social, organisational or structural-level interventions, which is significant. By specifically targeting inequities and other modifiable factors that increase the risk of impaired grieving and PGD before individuals develop problematic symptoms, social/organisational/structural-level interventions have an important role in terms of prevention.

Some interventions such as brief contact support, and other initiatives for bereaved families and parents, including the use of intensive care diaries and having contact with the baby following stillbirth, appear to be primarily aimed at providing support during the early stages after a loss. Other reviews had a clear focus on treatments for individuals with more complex needs who are experiencing symptoms of a grief disorder. Often however, it was difficult to determine without specialist knowledge whether the interventions assessed in the reviews were secondary prevention/early intervention, treatment or specialist support for persistent grief, or a combination of support types. Some reviews explicitly stated that interventions represented multiple levels of bereavement support.

Whilst we did not examine all reviews in depth, it was noted that the duration and severity of symptoms experienced by intervention participants varied or was unclear, which has potential implications for the usefulness of findings. Some reviews reported variation in whether included studies even applied a threshold for participation based on the severity or intensity of grief. <sup>(334, 340)</sup>

#### The optimum time to access bereavement support services in order to prevent PGD

We identified limited evidence on the relationship between time since loss and intervention effectiveness. Some review authors highlighted a need to treat this evidence with caution owing to wide variations in the reported time since loss of participants in included studies. <sup>(292, 343)</sup>

We did not identify evidence specifically relating to the optimum time to access bereavement support services to prevent PGD. However, we are not certain that this is something that researchers or health practitioners would seek to prescribe. A 'one size fits all' approach to grief has been criticised <sup>(398)</sup> and its nature would appear to preclude the existence of a universally applicable optimum period of time for preventative PGD interventions. Grief is recognised to be a unique, unpredictable, and non-linear process. <sup>(398-400)</sup> A person's experience of grief is not the same after each bereavement, and it also varies across cultures and between different people who experience the same type of loss. <sup>(398, 400)</sup> It has also been suggested that the routine and early provision of formal bereavement support is overtreatment which is potentially detrimental to the grieving process and risks pathologising normal grief.<sup>(7,</sup> <sup>62, 343)</sup> Problems may be created if people develop the belief that their grief and related sadness following the loss of a loved one is an abnormal condition that requires psychological intervention.<sup>(401)</sup> We noted that in one review examining bereavement following advanced illness, the authors suggested that there was not a 'right time' to receive support. This was based on the finding that individuals' preferences regarding the timing of support varied within and across studies.<sup>(330)</sup>

# What evidence is available from primary studies about the types of bereavement services provided in the UK?

We identified evidence from 16 primary studies on the type and nature of bereavement support services available in the UK. While conducting this mapping review, we also became aware of an online directory and signposting website for bereavement services in the UK (<u>https://www.ataloss.org</u>). There are currently 1,400 local and national bereavement support services listed in a searchable database on the website.

We are also aware of a research programme being conducted at the Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy & Rehabilitation, King's College, London. The Better End of Life Project, funded by Marie Curie aims to understand the outcomes and experiences of individuals affected by death, dying, and bereavement in the UK – <u>https://www.kcl.ac.uk/research/better-end-of-life-project</u>.

As part of the research, the team is seeking to map the availability of care and services in the UK to identify gaps and inequalities. It is not clear from the information on the website whether the focus will be restricted to palliative care settings or whether it will also encompass services more broadly.

# To what extent do available services reflect those that have been evaluated?

Several primary studies examined services for individuals bereaved following death from specific health conditions, or in specific settings, that have been the focus of reviews. For example, interventions and services after bereavement by terminal illness, perinatal death, and deaths in critical care settings. We also identified three reviews with a specific focus on UK bereavement care, which reported findings related to experiences and/or impact and effectiveness. <sup>(165, 239, 240)</sup>

# Strengths and limitations

Our map of the evidence was conducted using systematic methods which included comprehensive searching, clearly defined inclusion criteria and systematic coding of key characteristics.

We captured a range of key information about each review in our evidence map including details on its focus, the participants in included studies, and where applicable, the nature of the intervention being evaluated. Our map is limited by the quality of reporting on included studies by review authors. For example, some details about included studies may have been omitted or reported inaccurately by review authors. Being unable to extract and report as much detail about each review as we originally proposed, owing to the large number identified, should be recognised as a limitation of our work.

We identified multiple reviews with a similar topic focus and study aim, particularly in relation to bereavement resulting from perinatal death, terminal/chronic illness or suicide. Consequently, there could exist considerable overlap in the primary studies included across reviews. When the same study or studies are included in multiple reviews it can offer reassurance that individual reviews were conducted in a consistent manner and their results reflect the existing literature. <sup>(402)</sup> However, study overlap may result in an overestimation of the size and strength of the evidence base as well as the over-representation in the literature of those studies that are included in multiple reviews. <sup>(402, 403)</sup> The over-representation of specific studies can be a source of bias, which is important to note if readers access the findings of individual reviews included in our map of the literature.

# CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL SYNTHESIS WORK

Our systematic map of the literature reveals that issues related to grief and bereavement, including PGD, have been extensively researched. We found 212 reviews, 96 protocols and 16 primary studies that addressed a range of questions of interest to the DHSC. Conducting additional synthesis work may be of value if it was possible to identify a specific and focused research question, arising from our map of the literature, which would address a significant gap in knowledge. Appropriate additional work could involve supplementing existing reviews or conducting a new evidence review.

# REFERENCES

1. Office for National Statistics. Deaths registered in England and Wales: 2021 (refreshed populations). Newport: ONS; 2023. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/b ulletins/deathsregistrationsummarytables/2021refreshedpopulations

2. Office for National Statistics. National population projections: 2020-based interim. Newport: ONS; 2022. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/population projections/bulletins/nationalpopulationprojections/2020basedinterim

3. Sue Ryder. A better grief. London Sue Ryder; 2019. Available from: https://www.sueryder.org/sites/default/files/2019-03/a-better-grief-report-sue-ryder.pdf

4. Childhood Bereavement Network. Key estimated statistics on childhood bereavement. National Children's Bureau: London; 2016. Available from: https://childhoodbereavementnetwork.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/files/Key-statisticson-Childhood-Bereavement-Nov-2016.pdf

 Sue Ryder. Grief in the workplace. How employers can provide better bereavement support. London: Sue Ryder 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.sueryder.org/sites/default/files/2021-01/Final%20-</u>
%20Bereavement%20in%20the%20workplace%20Report%20A4%2020pp%20high%20res.pdf

6. Goveas J, Shear M. Grief and the COVID-19 pandemic in older adults. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 2020;28(10):1119-25.

7. Boelen P, Smid G. Disturbed grief: Prolonged Grief Disorder and Persistent Complex Bereavement Disorder. British Medical Journal. 2017;357(j2016).

8. Prigerson H, Kakarala S, Gang J, Maciejewski P. History and status of Prolonged Grief Disorder as a psychiatric diagnosis. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology. 2021;17:109-26.

9. Treml J, Kaiser J, Plexnies A, Kersting A. Assessing Prolonged Grief Disorder: a systematic review of assessment instruments. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2020;274 420-34.

10. Lundorff M, Holmgren H, Zachariae R, Farver-Vestergaard I, O'Connor M. Prevalence of Prolonged Grief Disorder in adult bereavement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2017;212:138-49.

11. Doering B, Barke A, Vogel A, Comtesse H, Rosner R. Predictors of Prolonged Grief Disorder in a German representative population sample: unexpectedness of bereavement contributes to grief severity and Prolonged Grief Disorder. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2022;13(853698).

12. Public Health England. Support after a suicide: A guide to providing local services. A practice resource. London: PHE; 2016. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_da

13. Kristensen P, Weisæth L, Heir T. Bereavement and mental health after sudden and violent losses: a review. Psychiatry. 2012;75:76-97.

ta/file/590838/support\_after\_a\_suicide.pdf

14. American Psychiatric Association (APA). APA offers tips for understanding Prolonged Grief Disorder. Available from: <u>https://psychiatry.org/news-room/news-releases/apa-offers-tips-for-understanding-prolonged-grief</u> (Accessed 12th August 2022).

15. Eisma M, Rosner R, Comtesse H. ICD-11 Prolonged Grief Disorder criteria: turning challenges into opportunities with multiverse analyses. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2020;11:752.

16. Szuhany K, Malgaroli M, Miron C, Simon N. Prolonged Grief Disorder: course, diagnosis, assessment, and treatment. Focus. 2021;19(2):161-72.

17. Cacciatore J, Frances A. DSM-5-TR turns normal grief into a mental disorder. Lancet Psychiatry. 2022;9(E32).

18. Khan A. Prolonged grief is now labelled a disorder. Not all psychiatrists agree. VICE. Available from: <u>https://www.vice.com/en/article/wxd97m/prolonged-grief-disorder-psychiatry-mental-health</u> (Accessed 12th Aug 2022).

19. Reilly K. The hidden dangers of pathologizing grief. UNDARK. Available from: https://undark.org/2022/07/21/the-hidden-dangers-of-pathologizing-grief/ (Accessed 12th August 2022).

20. Cruse Bereavement Support. Complicated grief. Available from: <u>https://www.cruse.org.uk/understanding-grief/effects-of-grief/complicated-grief/</u> (Accessed 12th August 2022).

21. Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities. Levelling Up the United Kingdom. White Paper. CP 604. London: HH Associates Ltd on behalf of Her Majesty's Stationery Office; 2022. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom.

22. Bourgois P, Holmes S, Sue K, Quesada J. Structural vulnerability: operationalizing the concept to address health disparities in clinical care. Academic Medicine. 2017;92(3):299-307.

23. Bindley K, Lewis J, Travaglia J, DiGiacomo M. Caring and grieving in the context of social and structural inequity: experiences of Australian carers with social welfare needs. Qualitative Health Research. 2022;32(1):64-79.

24. Carruth LA-O, Martinez C, Smith L, Donato K, Piñones-Rivera C, Quesada J. Structural vulnerability: migration and health in social context. BMC Global Health. 2021;6:e005109.

25. McNeil R, Kerr T, Anderson S, Maher L, Keewatin C, Milloy MJ, et al. Negotiating structural vulnerability following regulatory changes to a provincial methadone program in Vancouver, Canada: a qualitative study. Social Science & Medicine. 2015;133:168-76.

26. Reimer-Kirkham S, Stajduhar K, Pauly B, Giesbrecht M, Mollison A, McNeil R, et al. Death is a social justice issue: perspectives on equity-informed palliative care. Advances in Nursing Science. 2016;39(4):293-307.

27. Wilson DT, O'Connor MF. From grief to grievance: combined axes of personal and collective grief among Black Americans. Front Psychiatry. 2022;13:850994.

28. Office for National Statistics. Socioeconomic inequalities in avoidable mortality in England: 2020. Newport: ONS; 2022. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/b ulletins/socioeconomicinequalitiesinavoidablemortalityinengland/2020#:~:text="Today%27s% 20data%20shows%20those%20living,in%20the%20most%20deprived%20areas

29. Tinson A, Tallack C. Deprivation and excess deaths. Reducing inequalities in mortality in England. London: The Health Foundation; 2020. Available from: https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/deprivation-and-excess-deaths

30. Paul S, Vaswani N. The prevalence of childhood bereavement in Scotland and its relationship with disadvantage: the significance of a public health approach to death, dying and bereavement. Palliative Care & Social Practice. 2020;14:1-12.

31. Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. People living in deprived neighbourhoods. Available from: <u>https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-ethnicity/demographics/people-living-in-deprived-neighbourhoods/latest</u> (Accessed 12th August 2022).

32. Newsom C, Stroebe M, Schut H, Wilson S, Birrell J, Moerbeek M, et al. Communitybased counseling reaches and helps bereaved people living in low-income households. Psychotherapy Research. 2019(4):479-91.

33. White J, Borgia S, Rehkopf D. Socioeconomic inequalities in the risk of suicide attempts among sexual minority adolescents: findings from the UK's Millennium Cohort Study. Lancet Regional Health Europe. 2022;26(100570)

34. Public Health England. Local suicide prevention planning. A practice resource. London: PHE; 2020. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_da ta/file/939479/PHE\_LA\_Guidance\_25\_Nov.pdf

35. The Samaritans. Socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour. Ewell: The Samaritans 2017. Available from:

https://media.samaritans.org/documents/Socioeconomic\_disadvantage\_and\_suicidal\_behavi our\_-\_Full.pdf

36. Office for National Statistics. Homicide in England and Wales: year ending March 2021. Newport: ONS; 2022. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/homicidein englandandwales/yearendingmarch2021

37. Kumar S, Sherman L, Strang H. Racial disparities in homicide victimisation rates: how to improve transparency by the Office of National Statistics in England and Wales. Cambridge Journal of Evidence-Based Policing. 2020;4:178–86.

Leyland A, Dundas R. The social patterning of deaths due to assault in Scotland, 1980-2005: population-based study. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2010;64(432-9).

39. Jordan T, Wotring A, McAfee C, Polavarapu M, Cegelka D, Wagner-Greene V, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic has changed dying and grief. Will there be a surge of complicated grief? Death Studies. 2022;46(1):84-90.

40. Weinstock L, Dunda D, Harrington H, Nelson H. It's complicated – adolescent grief in the time of COVID-19. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2021;12:638940.

41. Office for National Statistics. Deaths due to COVID-19, registered in England and Wales: 2021. Newport: ONS; 2022. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/a rticles/deathsregisteredduetocovid19/2021

42. Office for National Statistics. Updating ethnic contrasts in deaths involving the coronavirus (COVID-19), England: 10 January 2022 to 16 February 2022. Newport; 2022. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/a rticles/updatingethniccontrastsindeathsinvolvingthecoronaviruscovid19englandandwales/10ja nuary2022to16february2022

43. Raleigh V. Ethnic differences in COVID-19 death rates. A complex and evolving picture that demands close monitoring. British Medical Journal. 2022;376:o427.

44. Public Health England. Disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19. London: PHE 2020. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_da ta/file/908434/Disparities\_in\_the\_risk\_and\_outcomes\_of\_COVID\_August\_2020\_update.pdf

45. Routen A, Darko N, Willis A, Miksza J, Khunti K. "It's so tough for us now" – COVID-19 has negatively impacted religious practices relating to death among minority ethnic groups. Public Health. 2021;194:146-8.

46. Office for National Statistics. National survey of bereaved people (VOICES): England, 2015. Newport: ONS; 2015. Available from:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresyst em/bulletins/nationalsurveyofbereavedpeoplevoices/england2015

47. Rowley J, Richards N, Carduff E, Gott M. 'The impact of poverty and deprivation at the end of life: a critical review'. Palliative Care and Social Practice. 2021;15:1-19.

48. Scottish Government. Using intersectionality to understand structural inequality in Scotland: Evidence synthesis. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2022. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/using-intersectionality-understand-structural-inequality-scotland-evidence-synthesis/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/using-intersectionality-understand-structural-inequality-scotland-evidence-synthesis/</a>

49. Heard E, Fitzgerald L, Wigginton B, Mutch A. Applying intersectionality theory in health promotion research and practice. Health Promotion International. 2020;35(4):866-76.

50. Christoffersen A. Intersectional approaches to equality research and data. London: Equality Challenge Unit; 2017. Available from: <u>https://s3.eu-west-</u>

2.amazonaws.com/assets.creode.advancehe-document-

manager/documents/ecu/Research\_and\_data\_briefing\_2\_Intersectional\_approaches\_to\_equal ity\_research\_and\_data\_1579105654.pdf

51. Chaplin D, Twigg J, Lovell E. Intersectional approaches to vulnerability reduction and resilience-building. London: ODI; 2019. Available from: https://odi.org/en/publications/intersectional-approaches-to-vulnerability-reduction-and-resilience-building/

52. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Suicide prevention (QS189). London: NICE; 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs189</u>

53. Department of Health. Preventing suicide in England. A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives. London: DoH; 2012. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_da ta/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf

54. Department of Health. End of life care strategy. Promoting high quality care for all adults at the end of life. London: DoH; 2008. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_da ta/file/136431/End\_of\_life\_strategy.pdf

55. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Improving supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer (CSG4). London: NICE; 2004. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4/resources/improving-supportive-and-palliative-carefor-adultswith-cancer-pdf-773375005

56. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. End of life care for infants, children and young people with life-limiting conditions: planning and management (NG61). London: NICE; 2016. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng61

57. NHS England. Specialist level palliative care: information for commissioners. London: NHS England; 2016. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/04/speclst-palliatv-care-comms-guid.pdf

58. The Faculty of Intensive Care Medicine. Care at the end of life: A guide to best practice, discussion and decision-making in and around critical care. London FICM; 2019. Available from: https://www.ficm.ac.uk/sites/ficm/files/documents/2021-10/ficm-criticalcondition 0.pdf

59. NHS England. The NHS Long Term Plan. London: NHS England; 2019. Available from: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf

60. NHS England. NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20–2023/24. London: NHS England; 2019. Available from: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/nhs-mental-health-implementation-plan-2019-20-2023-24.pdf

Penny A, Relf M. A guide to commissioning bereavement services in England. National 61. Bereavement Alliance; 2017. Available from: https://nationalbereavementalliance.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/07/A-Guide-to-Commissioning-Bereavement-Services-in-England-WEB.pdf

National Bereavement Alliance. Manifesto for better bereavement support. General 62. election 2019. National Bereavement Alliance; 2019. Available from: https://nationalbereavementalliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Manifesto-GE2019.pdf

Bereavement Services Association and Cruse Bereavement Care. Bereavement Care 63. Service Standards. Blackpool: BSA/CRUSE; 2014. Available from: https://www.cruse.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/09/Bereavement\_Standards\_Mar2014.pdf

64. National Palliative and End of Life Care Partnership. Ambitions for palliative and end of life care: a national framework for local action 2021-2026. London; 2021. Available from:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/ambitions-for-palliative-and-endof-life-care-2nd-edition.pdf

65. Sands. National Bereavement Care Pathway, progress report. London: Sands; 2020. Available from: <u>https://nbcpathway.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-</u>07/NBCP\_ProgressReport\_Jun20\_FINAL.pdf

66. Welsh Government. National framework for the delivery of bereavement care. Cardiff: The Welsh Government; 2021. Available from: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2021/11/1/638184143/national-framework-delivery-bereavement-care.pdf</u>

67. National Bereavement Charter Working Group. A bereavement charter for children and adults in Scotland: guidance notes. 2021. Available from: <u>https://scottishcare.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/NESD1377-Bereavement-Charter-updated-2021-FINAL.pdf</u>

68. Pattison N, White C, Lone N. Bereavement in critical care: A narrative review and practice exploration of current provision of support services and future challenges. Journal of the Intensive Care Society. 2021;22(4):349-56.

69. The UK Commission on Bereavement. Bereavement is everyone's business: 2022 report. UK Commission on Bereavement; 2022. Available from: https://bereavementcommission.org.uk/ukcb-findings/

70. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus (COVID-19) latest insights: Deaths, 9th August, 2022 Newport: ONS; 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsand</u> <u>diseases/articles/coronaviruscovid19latestinsights/deaths</u>

71. Thomas J, Graziosi S, Brunton J, Ghouze Z, O'Driscoll P, Bond M. EPPI-Reviewer: advanced software for systematic reviews, maps and evidence synthesis [Software]. London: UCL; 2020.

72. Baffour-Awua A, Richter S. Perinatal loss in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. Africa Journal of Nursing & Midwifery. 2020;22(2):1-18.

73. Jackson B, McPeake J, Johnston B. What information and resources do carers require pre and post bereavement in the acute hospital setting? A rapid review. Current Opinion in Supportive & Palliative Care. 2019;13(4):328-36.

74. Kabatchnick R, Black Perry P. Remembering the "forgotten bereaved": understanding and caring for siblings of completed suicide victims. In: Perry Black B, Wright P, Limbo R, editors. Perinatal and pediatric bereavement in nursing and other health professions. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company; US; 2016. p. 287-305.

75. Thornton R, Nicholson P, Harms L. Scoping review of memory making in bereavement care for parents after the death of a newborn. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic & Neonatal Nursing. 2019;48(3):351-60.

76. Wilson S, Toye C, Aoun S, Slatyer S, Moyle W, Beattie E. Effectiveness of psychosocial interventions in reducing grief experienced by family carers of people with dementia: a systematic review. JBI Database Of Systematic Reviews And Implementation Reports. 2017;15(3):809-39.

77. Crawley S, Sampson EL, Moore KJ, Kupeli N, West E. Grief in family carers of people living with dementia: a systematic review. International Psychogeriatrics. 2022:1-32.

78. Djelantik A, Smid GE, Mroz A, Kleber RJ, Boelen PA. The prevalence of Prolonged Grief Disorder in bereaved individuals following unnatural losses: systematic review and meta regression analysis. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2020;265:146-56.

79. Grose J, Treml J, Kersting A. Impact of caregiver burden on mental health in bereaved caregivers of cancer patients: a systematic review. Psycho-Oncology. 2018;27(3):757-67.

80. Hay A, Howell JA, Rudaizky D, Breen LJ. Experiences and support needs of bereaved students in Higher Education. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2022:302228221096565.

81. Holm AL, Berland AK, Severinsson E. Factors that influence the health of older widows and widowers: a systematic review of quantitative research. Nursing Open. 2019;6(2):591-611.

82. Jessop M, Fischer A, Good P. Impact of expected parental death on the health of adolescent and young adult children: a systematic review of the literature. Palliative Medicine. 2022;36(6):928-37.

83. Killikelly C, Bauer S, Maercker A. The assessment of grief in refugees and post-conflict survivors: a narrative review of etic and emic research. Frontiers in Psychology. 2018;9:1957.

84. Kokou-Kpolou CK, Moukouta CS, Masson J, Bernoussi A, Cenat JM, Bacque MF. Correlates of grief-related disorders and mental health outcomes among adult refugees exposed to trauma and bereavement: a systematic review and future research directions. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2020;267:171-84.

85. Komischke-Konnerup K, Zachariae R, Johannsen M, Nielsen LD, O'Connor M. Cooccurrence of prolonged grief symptoms and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress in bereaved adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Affective Disorders Reports. 2021;4:100140.

86. Kuo SC, Sun JL, Tang ST. Trajectories of depressive symptoms for bereaved family members of chronically ill patients: a systematic review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2017;26(23-24):3784-99.

87. Kustanti CY, Chu H, Kang XL, Huang TW, Jen HJ, Liu D, et al. Prevalence of grief disorders in bereaved families of cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Palliative Medicine. 2022;36(2):305-18.

88. Morris S, Fletcher K, Goldstein R. The grief of parents after the death of a young child. Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings. 2019;26(3):321-38.

89. O'Riordan D, Boland G, Guerin S, Dodd P. Synthesising existing research on complicated grief in intellectual disability: findings from a systematic review. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research. 2022;66(11):833-52.

90. Pan H, Liu F. The prevalence of complicated grief among Chinese people at high risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Death Studies. 2021;45:480-90.

91. Parisi A, Sharma A, Howard MO, Blank W. The relationship between substance misuse and complicated grief: a systematic review. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 2019;103:43-57.

92. Parro-Jimenez E, Moran N, Gesteira C, Sanz J, Garcia-Vera MP. Complicated grief: a systematic review of prevalence, diagnosis, risk and protective factors in the adult population of Spain. Anales de Psicologia. 2021;37(2):189-201.

93. Skantharajah N, Barrie C, Baxter S, Carolina Borja M, Butters A, Dudgeon D, et al. The grief and bereavement experiences of informal caregivers: a scoping review of the North American literature. Journal of Palliative Care. 2022;37(2):242-58.

94. Thiemann P, Street AN, Heath SE, Quince T, Kuhn I, Barclay S. Prolonged Grief Disorder prevalence in adults 65 years and over: a systematic review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2021;11:11.

95. van Denderen M, de Keijser J, Kleen M, Boelen PA. Psychopathology among homicidally bereaved individuals: a systematic review. Trauma Violence & Abuse. 2015;16(1):70-80.

96. Wilson DM, Darko EM, Kusi-Appiah E, Roh SJ, Ramic A, Errasti-Ibarrondo B. What exactly is "complicated" grief? A scoping research literature review to understand its risk factors and prevalence. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2020;86(2):471-87.

97. Yuan MD, Wang ZQ, Fei L, Zhong BL. Prevalence of Prolonged Grief Disorder and its symptoms in Chinese parents who lost their only child: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in Public Health. 2022;10:1016160.

98. Comtesse H, Rosner R. A systematic review of somatic complaints in bereaved adults: prevalence, correlates, and co-occurrence with Prolonged Grief Disorder symptoms. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=83742

99. Eisma M, Boelen P, de Keijser J, Lenferink L. Prevalence and correlates of prolonged grief, posttraumatic stress, and depression among disaster-bereaved individuals: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=81454

100. Falala A, Lannes A, Revet A, Bui E, Raynaud JP. Prevalence of Prolonged Grief Disorder in bereaved children and adolescents: A systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=236026</u>

101. Garland N, Bryant R, Keyan D. The prevalence and predictors of problematic grief since the COVID-19 pandemic. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=308540

102. Kossigan Kokou-Kpolou C, Bet Q, Park S, Lenferink LIM, Boelen P. The study of prolonged grief symptomatology from a network perspective: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=335634

103. Kossigan Kokou-Kpolou C, Chika Chukwuorji J, Kator Iorfa S. A systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence, co-occurrence and correlates of Prolonged Grief Disorder in sub-Saharan Africa. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=158779

104. Nation L, Cherry S, Kisely S, Siskind D. Factors associated with the prevalence of complicated grief: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=33551

105. Redican E, LaRiviere H, Shevlin M. A systematic literature review of the prevalence, risk factors, and validity of ICD-11 Prolonged Grief Disorder during the COVID-19 pandemic. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=330916

106. Reitsma L, Lenferink L, Boelen P. Psychological effects of bereavement due to COVID-19: a living systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=225347

107. Sahebi A, Nejati-Zarnaqi B. Prevalence of prolonged grief disorder after natural disasters: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=304161

108. Spencer-Laitt D, Woodard L, Torre M, Farchione T. Co-occurring conditions among adults with Prolonged Grief Disorder: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=329268</u>

109. Kustanti CY, Yunitri N. Prevalence of grief disorders in the time of COVID-19: a metaanalysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=240625</u>

110. Aehlig L. Adult attachment and prolonged grief: a systematic review. Groningen: University of Groningen; 2021.

111. Eisma MC, Stroebe MS. Emotion regulatory strategies in complicated grief: a systematic review. Behavior Therapy. 2021;52(1):234-49.

112. Flach K, Gressler N, Marcolino M, Levandowski D. Complicated grief after the loss of a baby: a systematic review about risk and protective factors for bereaved women. Trends in Psychology. 2022; 31:777–81

113. Heeke C, Kampisiou C, Niemeyer H, Knaevelsrud C. A systematic review and metaanalysis of correlates of Prolonged Grief Disorder in adults exposed to violent loss. European Journal of Psychotraumatology. 2019;10(1):1583524.

114. Kakarala SE, Roberts KE, Rogers M, Coats T, Falzarano F, Gang J, et al. The neurobiological reward system in Prolonged Grief Disorder (PGD): a systematic review. Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging. 2020;303:111135.

115. Lopez P, Cruzado JA, Lacasta R, M A, Lallana-Frias E. Predictors of complicated grief in caregivers of palliative care patients. Omega. 2022:302228221133437.

116. Russ V, Stopa L, Sivyer K, Jane H, Tess M. The relationship between adult attachment and complicated grief: a systematic review. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2022:302228221083110.

117. Sanderson EAM, Humphreys S, Walker F, Harris D, Carduff E, McPeake J, et al. Risk factors for complicated grief among family members bereaved in intensive care unit settings: a systematic review. PLoS ONE. 2022;17(3):e0264971.

118. Treml J, Schmidt V, Nagl M, Kersting A. Pre-loss grief and preparedness for death among caregivers of terminally ill cancer patients: a systematic review. Social Science & Medicine. 2021;284:114240.

119. Ito Y, Michihiro T, Masahiro K, Yagome S, Sakaguchi Y. Effect size estimates of risk factors for post-intensive care syndrome- family: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart and Lung. 2023;59:1-7.

120. Andriessen K, Krysinska K, Castelli DDA, Dargis L, Mishara BL. Grief after euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide. Crisis. 2020;41(4):255-72.

121. Bjelland S, Jones K. A systematic review on improving the family experience after consent for deceased organ donation. Progress in Transplantation. 2022;32(2):152-66.

122. Burrell A, Selman LE. How do funeral practices impact bereaved relatives' mental health, grief and bereavement? A mixed methods review with implications for COVID-19. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2022;85(2):345-83.

123. Delalibera M, Presa J, Coelho A, Barbosa A, Franco MH. Family dynamics during the grieving process: a systematic literature review. Ciencia & Saude Coletiva. 2015;20(4):1119-34.

124. Hanschmidt F, Lehnig F, Riedel-Heller SG, Kersting A. The stigma of suicide survivorship and related consequences: a systematic review. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(9):e0162688.

125. Jiao K, Chow AYM, Chen C. Dyadic relationships between a surviving parent and children in widowed families: a systematic scoping review. Family Process. 2021;60(3):888-903.

126. King LM, Lacey A, Hunt J. Bereavement and children's mental health: recognising the effects of early parental loss. Nursing Children and Young People. 2022;34(1):22-7.

127. Lancel M, Stroebe M, Eisma MC. Sleep disturbances in bereavement: a systematic review. Sleep Medicine Reviews. 2020;53:101331.

128. Mason TM, Tofthagen CS, Buck HG. Complicated grief: risk factors, protective factors, and interventions. Journal Of Social Work In End-Of-Life & Palliative Care. 2020;16(2):151-74.

129. Nielsen MK, Neergaard MA, Jensen AB, Bro F, Guldin MB. Do we need to change our understanding of anticipatory grief in caregivers? A systematic review of caregiver studies during end-of-life caregiving and bereavement. Clinical Psychology Review. 2016;44:75-93.

130. Sampson C. A grounded theory of how Facebook facilitates continuing bonds with the deceased. Canterbury: Canterbury Christ Church University; 2020.

131. Scott HR, Pitman A, Kozhuharova P, Lloyd-Evans B. A systematic review of studies describing the influence of informal social support on psychological wellbeing in people bereaved by sudden or violent causes of death. BMC Psychiatry. 2020;20(1):265.

132. Setubal MS, Bolibio R, Jesus RC, Benute GG, Gibelli MA, Bertolassi N, et al. A systematic review of instruments measuring grief after perinatal loss and factors associated with grief reactions. Palliative & Supportive Care. 2021;19(2):246-56.

133. Taggart H, Greatrex-White S. Traumatic grief in young people in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. Nursing: Research & Reviews. 2015;5:77-89.

134. Vedder A, Boerner K, Stokes JE, Schut HAW, Boelen PA, Stroebe MS. A systematic review of loneliness in bereavement: current research and future directions. Current Opinion in Psychology. 2022;43:48-64.

135. Yan H, Bytautas J, Isenberg SR, Kaplan A, Hashemi N, Kornberg M, et al. Grief and bereavement of family and friends around medical assistance in dying: scoping review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022;13:13.

136. Buur Steffensen C, Komischke-Konnerup KB, Zachariae R, O'Connor M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of risk factors related to complicated grief reactions. PROSPERO
[Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=281396

137. Heeke C, Hofmann H, Franzen M, Knaevelsrud C, Lenfe L. Latent classes of prolonged grief and other indicators of mental health in bereaved adults: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=283316

138. Mc Elroy S, Duffy M, Mulholland C. The role of cognitive factors in the maintenance of complicated grief following violent bereavement with a special focus on populations exposed to war and civil conflict: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=110319

139. Pattison N, Lone N, Walker F, Harris D, Humphreys S. Risk factors for complicated grief among the family of intensive care unit decedents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=209503

140. Johnston B, Fulya Dönmez Ç, Mayland C, Selman L, Lapwood S. Supporting care home staff, residents, and bereaved family members in the context of COVID-19 related death: a rapid systematic review on bereavement in care homes. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=236427

141. Aust J, Hanratty B, Stow D, Dewhurst F. Identifying risk factors for poor outcomes following bereavement during periods of increased population level mortality: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=247581

142. Albuquerque S, Pereira M, Narciso I. Couple's relationship after the death of a child: a systematic review. Journal of Child and Family Studies. 2016;25(1):30-53.

143. Duncan C, Cacciatore J. A systematic review of the peer-reviewed literature on selfblame, guilt, and shame. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2015;71(4):312-42

144. Fernandez-Fernandez J, Gomez-Diaz M. Resilience and grief facing the loss of a loved one: a systematic review. Revista de Psicopatologia y Psicologia Clinica. 2022;27(2):129-39.

145. Hai AH, Currin-McCulloch J, Franklin C, Cole AH, Jr. Spirituality/religiosity's influence on college students' adjustment to bereavement: a systematic review. Death Studies. 2018;42(8):513-20.

146. Hoffmann R, Kaiser J, Kersting A. Psychosocial outcomes in cancer-bereaved children and adolescents: a systematic review. Psycho-Oncology. 2018;27(10):2327-38.

147. Purrington J. Psychological adjustment to spousal bereavement in older adults: a systematic review. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2021:302228211043702.

148. Astorquia Anchia A. The influence of the terminal patient's death at home or in the hospital, in the grief of the main caregiver. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=88552

149. Espinosa Dice AL, Denckla C, Mita C. A systematic review of the association between bereavement and neurocognition across the lifespan. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=289718 150. Lebel S, Brillon P, Lépine O. Psychological states of homicidally bereaved adults: a systematic review of post-homicide factors. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=234219</u>

151. Trucco AP, Mioshi E, Kishita N, Backhou T. A systematic review of factors associated with grief in informal carers of people living with motor neurone disease. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=292798</u>

152. Mc Grath-Lone L, Ott E. Perinatal loss: key messages for infant removal at birth: an evidence review. Oxford: Rees Centre, Oxford University; 2022. Available from: https://bit.ly/3u2y5nB

153. Andriessen K, Draper B, Dudley M, Mitchell PB. Pre- and postloss features of adolescent suicide bereavement: a systematic review. Death Studies. 2016;40(4):229-46.

154. Arruda EH, Paun O. Dementia caregiver grief and bereavement: an integrative review. Western Journal of Nursing Research. 2017;39(6):825-51.

155. Brown-Brundage A. Grief in long-term care: a study of the impact of death and the benefits of end of life planning on long-term care staff. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. 2021;82.

156. Chen C, Chow AYM, Tang S. Professional caregivers' bereavement after patients' deaths: a scoping review of quantitative studies. Death Studies. 2019;43(8):500-8.

157. D'Alton SV, Ridings L, Williams C, Phillips S. The bereavement experiences of children following sibling death: an integrative review. Journal of Pediatric Nursing. 2022;66:e82-e99.

158. Donovan LA, Wakefield CE, Russell V, Cohn RJ. Hospital-based bereavement services following the death of a child: a mixed study review. Palliative Medicine. 2015;29(3):193-210.

159. Evans A, Abrahamson K. The influence of stigma on suicide bereavement: a systematic review. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services. 2020;58(4):21-7.

160. Fiore J. A systematic review of the Dual Process Model of Coping with bereavement (1999-2016). Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2021;84(2):414-58.

161. Garcini LM, Brown RL, Chen MA, Saucedo L, Fite AM, Ye P, et al. Bereavement among widowed Latinos in the United States: a systematic review of methodology and findings. Death Studies. 2021;45(5):342-53.

162. Haylett WJ, Tilley DS. The phenomenon of bereaved parenting: an integrative review of literature. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2021;82(3):424-45.

163. Heazell AEP, Siassakos D, Blencowe H, Burden C, Bhutta ZA, Cacciatore J, et al. Stillbirths: economic and psychosocial consequences. Lancet. 2016;387(10018):604-16.

164. McNeil MJ, Namisango E, Hunt J, Powell RA, Baker JN. Grief and bereavement in parents after the death of a child in low- and middle- income countries. Children. 2020;7(5):01.

165. Hewison A, Zafar S, Efstathiou N. Bereavement support in the UK- a rapid evidence assessment. Birmingham: Sue Ryder, University of Birmingham; 2019. Available from: https://bit.ly/3OANODS

166. Ho AL, Hernandez A, Robb JM, Zeszutek S, Luong S, Okada E, et al. Spontaneous miscarriage management experience: a systematic review. Cureus. 2022;14(4):e24269.

167. Kaspersen SL, Kalseth J, Stene-Larsen K, Reneflot A. Use of health services and support resources by immediate family members bereaved by suicide: a scoping review. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health 2022;19(16):14.

168. Lestienne L, Leaune E, Haesebaert J, Poulet E, Andriessen K. An integrative systematic review of online resources and interventions for people bereaved by suicide. Preventive Medicine. 2021;152(1):106583.

169. Lichtenthal WG, Sweeney CR, Roberts KE, Corner GW, Donovan LA, Prigerson HG, et al. Bereavement follow-up after the death of a child as a standard of care in pediatric oncology. Pediatric Blood & Cancer. 2015;62:S834-69.

170. Logan EL, Thornton JA, Breen LJ. What determines supportive behaviors following bereavement? A systematic review and call to action. Death Studies. 2018;42(2):104-14.

171. Obst KL, Due C, Oxlad M, Middleton P. Men's grief following pregnancy loss and neonatal loss: a systematic review and emerging theoretical model. BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth. 2020;20(1):11.

172. Shulla RM, Toomey RB. Sex differences in behavioral and psychological expression of grief during adolescence: a meta-analysis. Journal of Adolescence. 2018;65:219-27.

173. Wang Q, Walsh Christine A, Tong H. A systematic review of late-life spousal bereavement and widowhood, with an emphasis on immigrants in western countries, and older Chinese adults. China Journal of Social Work. 2018;11:211.

174. Gamondi C, Fusi-Schmidhauser T, Oriani A, Payne S, Preston N. Family members' experiences of assisted dying: a systematic literature review with thematic synthesis. Palliative Medicine. 2019;33(8):1091-105.

175. Holtslander L, Baxter S, Mills K, Bocking S, Dadgostari T, Duggleby W, et al. Honoring the voices of bereaved caregivers: a metasummary of qualitative research. BMC Palliative Care. 2017;16(1):48.

176. Piil K, Nordentoft S, Larsen A, Jarden M. Bereaved caregivers of patients with high-grade glioma: a systematic review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2019;9(1):26-33.

177. de Andrade Alvarenga W, de Montigny F, Zeghiche S, Polita Naiara B, Verdon C, Nascimento Lucila C. Understanding the spirituality of parents following stillbirth: a qualitative meta-synthesis. Death Studies. 2021;45(6):420-36.

178. Berry SN, Marko T, Oneal G. Qualitative interpretive metasynthesis of parents' experiences of perinatal loss. Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing. 2021;50(20-29):20-9.

179. Butler A, Hall H, Willetts G, Copnell B. Parents' experiences of healthcare provider actions when their child dies: an integrative review of the literature. Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing. 2015;20(1):5-20.

180. Coffey H. Parents' experience of the care they received following a stillbirth: a literature review. Evidence Based Midwifery. 2016;14:16-21.

181. Dutta O, Tan-Ho G, Choo PY, Ho AHY. Lived experience of a child's chronic illness and death: a qualitative systematic review of the parental bereavement trajectory. Death Studies. 2019;43(9):547-61.

182. Fernandez-Basanta S, Coronado C, Movilla-Fernandez MJ. Multicultural coping experiences of parents following perinatal loss: a meta-ethnographic synthesis. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2020;76(1):9-21.

183. Kenny M, Darcy-Bewick S, Martin A, Eustace-Cook J, Hilliard C, Clinton F, et al. You are at rock bottom: a qualitative systematic review of the needs of bereaved parents as they journey through the death of their child to cancer. Journal of Psychosocial Oncology. 2020;38(6):761-81.

184. Kingdon C, O'Donnell E, Givens J, Turner M. The role of healthcare professionals in encouraging parents to see and hold their stillborn baby: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. PLoS ONE. 2015;10:e0130059.

185. Lalande D, Desrosiers AA, Zeghiche S, Landry I, de Montigny F. L'expérience des parents endeuillés participant à des groupes de soutien après un deuil périnatal: une synthèse thématique. Recherche en soins infirmiers. 2022;149(2):31-50.

186. Law K, Farrel C. Needs of bereaved parents following the death of a child or young person from cancer. Cancer Nursing Practice. 2019;18(1):28-34.

187. Meunier S, de Montigny F, Zeghiche S, Lalande D, Verdon C, Da Costa D, et al. Workplace experience of parents coping with perinatal loss: a scoping review. Work. 2021;69(2):411-21.

188. Ogwulu CB, Jackson LJ, Heazell AEP, Roberts TE. Exploring the intangible economic costs of stillbirth. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2015;15(188).

189. Polita NB, de Montigny F, Neris RR, Alvarenga WA, Silva-Rodrigues FM, Leite A, et al. The experiences of bereaved parents after the loss of a child to cancer: a qualitative metasynthesis. Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing. 2020;37(6):444-57.

190. Schoonover K, Yadav H, Prokop L, Lapid Maria I. Accommodating bereaved parents in the workplace: a scoping review. Journal of Loss and Trauma. 2022;28(4):348-63.

191. Schoonover KL, Prokop L, Lapid MI. Valuable informal bereavement support strategies for bereaved parents of stillborn, young children, and adult children: a scoping review. Journal of Palliative Care. 2022;37(3):381-400.

192. Vig PS, Lim JY, Lee RWL, Huang H, Tan XH, Lim WQ, et al. Parental bereavement – impact of death of neonates and children under 12 years on personhood of parents: a systematic scoping review. BMC Palliative Care. 2021;20(1):136.

193. Wright P. Parental bereavement in older age: a scoping review. Illness, Crisis, & Loss. 2022;30(3):531-71.

194. Burden C, Bradley S, Storey C, Ellis A, Heazell AE, Downe S, et al. From grief, guilt pain and stigma to hope and pride: a systematic review and meta-analysis of mixed-method research of the psychosocial impact of stillbirth. BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth. 2016;16:9.

195. Butler AE, Hall H, Willetts G, Copnell B. Family experience and PICU death: a metasynthesis. Pediatrics. 2015;136(4):e961-73.

196. Peters MD, Lisy K, Riitano D, Jordan Z, Aromataris E. Providing meaningful care for families experiencing stillbirth: a meta-synthesis of qualitative evidence. Journal of Perinatology. 2016;36(1):3-9.

197. Stiffler D, Birch N, Campbell H, Cullen D. A synthesis of coping experiences after infant death. Holistic Nursing Practice. 2017;31(2):118-25.

198. Titlestad KB, Lindeman SK, Lund H, Dyregrov K. How do family members experience drug death bereavement? A systematic review of the literature. Death Studies. 2021;45(7):508-21.

199. Zavrou R, Charalambous A, Papastavrou E, Koutrouba A, Karanikola M. Trying to keep alive a non-traumatizing memory of the deceased: a meta-synthesis on the interpretation of loss in suicide-bereaved family members, their coping strategies and the effects on them. Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing. 2022;30(2):182-207.

200. Ellis A, Chebsey C, Storey C, Bradley S, Jackson S, Flenady V, et al. Systematic review to understand and improve care after stillbirth: a review of parents' and healthcare professionals' experiences. BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth. 2016;16:16.

201. Shakespeare C, Merriel A, Bakhbakhi D, Baneszova R, Barnard K, Lynch M, et al. Parents' and healthcare professionals' experiences of care after stillbirth in low- and middleincome countries: a systematic review and meta-summary. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2019;126(1):12-21.

202. van Kempen MM, Kochen EM, Kars MC. Insight into the content of and experiences with follow-up conversations with bereaved parents in paediatrics: a systematic review. Acta Paediatrica. 2022;111(4):716-32.

203. Cheer K. Asia-Pacific women's experiences of stillbirth: a metasynthesis of qualitative literature. Health Care for Women International. 2016;37(8):889-905.

204. Kuforiji O, Mills TA, Lovell K. Women's experiences of care and support following perinatal death in high burden countries: a metasynthesis. Women & Birth: Journal of the Australian College of Midwives. 2022;36(2):e195-e202.

205. Wright P. Perinatal loss and spirituality: a metasynthesis of qualitative research. Illness, Crisis, & Loss. 2020;28(2):99-118.

206. Jones K, Robb M, Murphy S, Davies A. New understandings of fathers' experiences of grief and loss following stillbirth and neonatal death: a scoping review. Midwifery. 2019;79:102531.

207. McNeil MJ, Baker JN, Snyder I, Rosenberg AR, Kaye EC. Grief and bereavement in fathers after the death of a child: a systematic review. Pediatrics. 2021;147(4).

208. Williams HM, Topping A, Coomarasamy A, Jones LL. Men and miscarriage: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. Qualitative Health Research. 2020;30(1):133-45.

209. Clabburn O, Knighting K, Jack BA, O'Brien MR. Continuing bonds with children and bereaved young people: a narrative review. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2021;83(3):371-89.

210. Duncan D. Death and dying: a systematic review into approaches used to support bereaved children. Review of Education. 2020;8(2):452-79.

211. De Rosbo-Davies C, Laletas S, Round P. Daughters' experiences of maternal bereavement during adolescence: a scoping review. Death Studies. 2022;46(9):2156-66.

212. Wray A, Pickwell-Smith BG, S Pask, S Bamidele, O Wright, B Murtagh, F Boland, JW. Parental death: a systematic review of support experiences and needs of children and parent survivors. BMJ Supportive and Palliative Care. 2022.

213. Anderson E, Van Vuuren J, Bennett KM, Soulsby LK. Exploring the process of adjustment following partner death in younger, widowed individuals: a qualitative systematic review. Death Studies. 2022;47(5):606-17.

214. Bristowe K, Marshall S, Harding R. The bereavement experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual and/or trans people who have lost a partner: a systematic review, thematic synthesis and modelling of the literature. Palliative Medicine. 2016;30(8):730-44.

215. Roberts F. Bereaved children: how are their needs understood and addressed? Manchester: University of Manchester; 2020.

216. Barnes S, Jordan Z, Broom M. Health professionals' experiences of grief associated with the death of pediatric patients: a systematic review. JBI Evidence Synthesis. 2020;18(3):459-515.

217. Bloomer M, Ranse K, Adams L, Brooks L, Coventry A. "Time and life is fragile": an integrative review of nurses' experiences after patient death in adult critical care. Australian Critical Care. 2023 36(5):872-888.

218. Causer H, Muse K, Smith J, Bradley E. What is the experience of practitioners in health, education or social care roles following a death by suicide? A qualitative research synthesis. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health. 2019;16(18).

219. Chen C, Chow AYM, Tang S. Bereavement process of professional caregivers after deaths of their patients: a meta-ethnographic synthesis of qualitative studies and an integrated model. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2018;88:104-13.

220. Lord AJ, Field S, Smith IC. The experiences of staff who support people with intellectual disability on issues about death, dying and bereavement: a metasynthesis. Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities. 2017;30(6):1007-21.

221. Meller N, Parker D, Hatcher D, Sheehan A. Grief experiences of nurses after the death of an adult patient in an acute hospital setting: an integrative review of literature. Collegian. 2019;26(2):302-10.

222. Raymond A, Lee SF, Bloomer MJ. Understanding the bereavement care roles of nurses within acute care: a systematic review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2017;26(13-14):1787-800.

223. Reime MA, Loseth HM, Lindeman SK, Titlestad KB, Dyregrov K, Selseng LB. Professional helpers' experiences of assisting the bereaved after drug-related deaths: a knowledge gap. Nordisk Alkohol & Narkotikatidskrift. 2022;39(4):453-65.

224. Shariff A, Olson J, Salas AS, Cranley L. Nurses' experiences of providing care to bereaved families who experience unexpected death in intensive care units: a narrative overview. The Canadian Journal of Critical Care Nursing. 2017;28(1):21-9.

225. Causer H, Spiers J, Efstathiou N, Aston S, Chew-Graham CA, Gopfert A, et al. The impact of colleague suicide and the current state of postvention guidance for affected co-workers: a critical integrative review. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health. 2022;19(18).

226. Goodall R, Krysinska K, Andriessen K. Continuing bonds after loss by suicide: a systematic review. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health. 2022;19(5).

227. Sajan M, Kakar K, Majid U. Social interactions while grieving suicide loss: a qualitative review of 58 studies. Family Journal. 2022;30:401-10.

228. Shields C, Kavanagh M, Russo K. A qualitative systematic review of the bereavement process following suicide. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2017;74(4):426-54.

229. Talseth AG, Gilje FL. Liberating burdensomeness of suicide survivorship loss: a critical interpretive synthesis. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2017;26(23-24):3843-58.

230. Zavrou R, Karanikola M, Papastavrou E. Exploring the experiential experience of people who have lost a family member to suicide [Διερεύνηση Βιωματικής Εμπειρίας Ατόμων που Έχασαν Κάποιο Μέλος της Οικογένειάς τους από Αυτοκτονία]. Nosileftiki. 2016;55:347-58.

231. Connolly J, Gordon R. Co-victims of homicide: a systematic review of the literature. Trauma Violence & Abuse. 2015;16(4):494-505.

232. Bindley K, Lewis J, Travaglia J, DiGiacomo M. Disadvantaged and disenfranchised in bereavement: a scoping review of social and structural inequity following expected death. Social Science & Medicine. 2019;242:112599.

233. Coelho A, Barbosa A. Family anticipatory grief: an integrative literature review. American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine. 2017;34(8):774-85.

234. Dorman J, Raffin B, daSilva C, Miller M. Family experiences with palliative care in freestanding paediatric hospices: a scoping review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022;01:01.

235. Fee A, Hanna J, Hasson F. Pre-loss grief experiences of adults when someone important to them is at end-of-life: a qualitative systematic review. Death Studies. 2021:1-15.

236. Mayland CR, Harding AJE, Preston N, Payne S. Supporting adults bereaved through COVID-19: a rapid review of the impact of previous pandemics on grief and bereavement. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2020;60(2):e33-e9.

237. Falzarano F, Winoker H, Burke RV, Mendoza JA, Munoz F, Tergas A, et al. Grief and bereavement in the Latino/a community: a literature synthesis and directions for future research. Health Equity. 2022;6(1):696-707.

238. Pentaris P, Patlamazoglou L, Schaub J. The role of faith in the experience of grief among sexually diverse individuals: a systematic review. Psychology & Sexuality. 2022:1-17.

239. Mayland CR, Powell RA, Clarke GC, Ebenso B, Allsop MJ. Bereavement care for ethnic minority communities: a systematic review of access to, models of, outcomes from, and satisfaction with, service provision. PLoS ONE. 2021;16(6):e0252188.

240. Pearce C, Wong G, Kuhn I, Barclay S. Supporting bereavement and complicated grief in primary care: a realist review. BJGP Open. 2021;5(3).

241. Boven C, Dillen L, Van den Block L, Piers R, Van Den Noortgate N, Van Humbeeck L. Inhospital bereavement services as an act of care and a challenge: an integrative review. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2022;63(3):e295-e316. 242. Ito Y, Tsubaki M, Kobayashi M. Families' experiences of grief and bereavement in the emergency department: a scoping review. Japan Journal of Nursing Science 2022;19(1):e12451.

243. Wilson DM, Bykowski K, Chrzanowski AM, Knox M, Errasti-Ibarrondo B. A scoping research literature review to explore bereavement humor. Current Psychology. 2022:1-12.

244. Chakraborty A, Hammond S, Vandersman P, Tieman J. Supporting the grief, loss and bereavement needs of families of older people living in residential aged care: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=201720

245. Oxlad M, Franke E, Due C, Jaensch L. Perspectives and experiences of bereavement photography following stillbirth: a systematic review and meta-synthesis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=315971</u>

246. Horey D, Aggarwal A, Bowles A, Boyle F. Fathers' experience of stillbirth: an overview of systematic reviews. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=120063

247. Chan LF, Ng YP, Chan WL. A systematic review of the impact of client suicide in clinicians: prevalence, predictors and postvention. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=138797

248. Liu Y, Jiang Y, Huang X. The levels and factors influencing of nursing grief counseling: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=339236

249. Pitaluga Lagares IC, Braz da Silva S, de Sousa Ferreira B, de Sousa Silva Álvares D, Capel Hernandes J. The importance of psychological support in gestational losses: systematic literature review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=219238

250. Ridley A, Frache S. Procedures and methods of bereavement follow-up of families (parents and siblings) after the death of a child in a hospital setting: a meta-analysis and systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=124783

251. Sharpe R, Jones J, Corkery J, Goodman C. The prevalence, risk factors, impact, prevention and postvention of suicide in people with dementia: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=88610

252. Vseteckova J, Mahon A, Boyle G, Guntupalli A, Jones K, Garcia R. Frailty and spousal/partner bereavement in older people: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=149453">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=149453</a>

253. Wilson G, Rolbiecki A, Lero C. Health impacts of bereavement on family caregivers of persons with dementia. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=234692

254. Crowe L, Shenfine R, Embleton N, Rankin J. Support for fathers who have experienced a neonatal loss. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=73394 255. La Fontaine J, Williams H, Jones L, Coomaras A. A systematic review and qualitative synthesis of women's lived experiences of multiple miscarriage and associated treatment and care. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=91188

256. Pase C, Nazareth C, Almeida R, Garcia C. How the healthcare team deals with the loss of pediatric patient: a systematic review with meta-summarization. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=32698">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=32698</a>

257. Shakespeare C, Merriel A, Bakhbakhi D, Storey C, Siassakos D. Systematic review: what are parents' and healthcare professionals' experiences of care after stillbirth in low and middle income countries. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=60622

258. Waugh A, Slade P, Kiemle G. Bereaved parents experiences of post traumatic growth. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=30135

259. Jones K, De Lappe J, Vseteckova J. What support is offered and given to bereaved elderly carers aged 65-43; after the death of a family member who was cared for, and how does it match their needs? A systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=282790

260. Jones K, De Lappe J, Vseteckova J. What support is offered and given to bereaved middle-aged carers aged 45-64 after the death of a family member who was cared for, and how does it match their needs? A systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=282815

261. Jones K, De Lappe J, Vseteckova J. What support is offered and given to bereaved adult carers aged 25-44 after the death of a family member that was cared for, and how does it match their needs? A systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=314777

262. Jones K, De Lappe J, Vseteckova J. What support is offered and given to lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) carers after the death of a family member that was cared for, and how does it match their needs? A systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=314785

263. Sadler F, Fabri C, Blencowe H. Midwives' perspectives and understanding of bereavement care following stillbirth: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=341024</u>

264. Tokwe L, Namukwambi R, Hamukwaya E. Experiences of health care professionals after a loss of a patient: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=206641

265. Añibarro G. The role of nursing in perinatal grief: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ord.vork.ac.uk/prospero/display/record.php?PacordID=175243

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=175243

266. Wilson C, Blencowe H, Atkins B, Storey C. A systematic review of parents', families', communities' and healthcare professionals' experiences of care following neonatal death in healthcare facilities in LMICs. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=345072 267. Bowen H, Schramm A, Oztemur T, Janulis T, Labbozzetta C, Landwehr C, et al. Experiences and perceptions of bereaved co-workers of emergency service first responders and military personnel who have died by suicide: a systematic review protocol. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=352833

268. Knudsen AK, Carlsen B. How do next of kin experience support after death in hospital? PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=121832

269. Postavaru G-I, Swaby H, Swaby R. Protocol for a meta-ethnographic study of the experience of loss and bereavement in fathers of children diagnosed with life-limiting illnesses. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=233258

270. Anbarasan KJ, Easter A. Support needs and experience of families following the suicide of a family member. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=127701

271. Pedraza Salcedo EC, Hendriks M, Michel G. Lived experiences and coping strategies in bereaved families (parents, siblings, grandparents) due to childhood cancer death: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=177899

272. Correia ME, Melo T, Nobre J. Grieving experiences of parents with children in end-of-life care. A qualitative review protocol. Nursing Reports. 2022;12:426-30.

273. Knight A, Pollock D, Boyle F, Horey D, Warland J. Evidence available to guide care during labor and birth for women and their partners who know their baby will be stillborn: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evidence Synthesis. 2021;19:1984-91.

274. Kocak S, Kochen E, van der Sman L, Kars M. Parents' experiences with loss and grief during the end-of-life phase of their children with life-limiting diseases: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=166592

275. Pant S, Efstathiou N, Elias MA, Kelly M, Thayyil S, Lavender T. Parental experiences around the time of newborn death in a neonatal intensive care unit. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=249223</u>

276. Stefana A, Lazzaroni S, Cena L. Psychoanalytic perspectives on the psychological effects of stillbirth on mothers and fathers: a protocol for systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=163198

277. Hughes R, Bennett K, Reilly J, Eccleston L. Adult sibling bereavement: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=178393

278. Fujita A, Moriguchi H, Ueki S, Hamada Y, Sasazuki M. A systematic review of grief experiences of children who have lost a sibling. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=289604

279. Bowen H, Landwehr C, Labbozzetta C, Cooper J, Conlon M, Schramm A. Experiences and perceptions of bereaved family members of emergency service first responders and

military personnel who have died by suicide: a systematic review protocol. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=330438

280. Fulya Donmez, Cigde, Seckin M. Experiences, perspectives and needs of refugees on bereavement care: a rapid systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=370126

281. Gladwin E, Bryant C, Gerber K, Merrylees L. Barriers and enablers of older people's health service use in bereavement: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=283215

282. Sheach-Leith V, Stephen AI. The experiences and support needs of adult family members who face a sudden adult death: a qualitative systematic review protocol. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports. 2016;14(2):93-105.

283. Sola P, de Souza C, Guijarro E, Oliveira-Cardoso E, dos Santos M. Family grief during the COVID-19 pandemic: a meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=299001</u>

284. Adshead C, Runacres J, Kevern P. A meta-synthesis of qualitative literature exploring the subjective experiences of individuals bereaved by suicide. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=323377</u>

285. Hewson H, Heath G, Galbraith N. Mixed-studies review of continuing bonds and the impact of these experiences on bereavement. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=227075

286. Hey AP, Pereira KdFPdO, Goncalves FM, Barbosa Paisca A, Veríssimo Meira Taveira K, Miranda De Araújo C, et al. The impact of grief on the quality of life of adults and elderly: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=324120

287. Sri Lakshmi Koduri NV, Eslavath R, John R. Correlates of post-traumatic growth among persons bereaved from cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=322775</u>

288. Asgari Z, Naghavi A, Abedi Mohammad R. Grief interventions: a qualitative review of systematic reviews. Journal of Loss and Trauma. 2022;28(3):235-51

289. Uphoff EP, Zamperoni V, Yap J, Simmonds R, Rodgers M, Dawson S, et al. Mental health promotion and protection relating to key life events and transitions in adulthood: a rapid systematic review of systematic reviews. Journal of Mental Health. 2022:1-14.

290. Ainscough T, Fraser L, Taylor J, Beresford B, Booth A. Bereavement support effectiveness for parents of infants and children: a systematic review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022;12(e5):e623-e31.

291. Charrois E. Identifying effective psychotherapeutic interventions and preferences in emotional care: reducing psychological distress and promoting emotional health in women who have experienced perinatal loss. Calgary: University of Calgary; 2022.

292. Crispus-Jones H, McKenzie-McHarg K, Horsch A. Standard care practices and psychosocial interventions aimed at reducing parental distress following stillbirth: a systematic narrative review. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology. 2015;33(5):448-65.

293. Dias N, Hendricks-Ferguson VL, Wei H, Boring E, Sewell K, Haase JE. A systematic literature review of the current state of knowledge related to interventions for bereaved parents. American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine. 2019;36(12):1124-33.

294. Dolan N, Grealish A, Tuohy T, Bright AM. Are mindfulness-based interventions as effective as Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in reducing symptoms of complicated perinatal grief? A systematic review. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2022;67(2):209-25.

295. Endo K, Yonemoto N, Yamada M. Interventions for bereaved parents following a child's death: a systematic review. Palliative Medicine. 2015;29(7):590-604.

296. Fernandez-Ferez A, Ventura-Miranda MI, Camacho-Avila M, Fernandez-Caballero A, Granero-Molina J, Fernandez-Medina IM, et al. Nursing interventions to facilitate the grieving process after perinatal death: a systematic review. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health. 2021;18(11):24.

297. Galazzi A, Adamini I, Bazzano G, Cancelli L, Fridh I, Laquintana D, et al. Intensive care unit diaries to help bereaved family members in their grieving process: a systematic review. Intensive & Critical Care Nursing. 2022;68:103121.

298. Hennegan JM, Henderson J, Redshaw M. Contact with the baby following stillbirth and parental mental health and well-being: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2015;5(11):e008616.

299. Huberty JL, Matthews J, Leiferman J, Hermer J, Cacciatore J. When a baby dies: a systematic review of experimental interventions for women after stillbirth. Reproductive Sciences. 2017;24(7):967-75.

300. Kochen EM, Jenken F, Boelen PA, Deben LMA, Fahner JC, van den Hoogen A, et al. When a child dies: a systematic review of well-defined parent-focused bereavement interventions and their alignment with grief- and loss theories. BMC Palliative Care. 2020;19(1):28.

301. Paraiso P, Gonzalez A, A V, Botigue T, Masot O, Escobar-Bravo MA, et al. Nursing interventions for perinatal bereavement care in neonatal intensive care units: a scoping review. International Nursing Review. 2021;68:122-37.

302. Pelacho-Rios L, Bernabe-Valero G. The loss of a child, bereavement and the search for meaning: a systematic review of the most recent parental interventions. Current Psychology. 2022:1-26.

303. Seo W, Lee H, Oh S, Sa H, Kim H. [Bereavement care for parents in the neonatal intensive care unit: a literature review]. Child Health Nursing Research. 2020;26(2):286-95.

304. Shaohua L, Shorey S. Psychosocial interventions on psychological outcomes of parents with perinatal loss: a systematic review and meta-analysis. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2021;117:103871.

305. Pachalla S, Witting C, James K, Michelson Kelly N. Interventions for siblings, extended family, and community members after pediatric death. Journal of Loss & Trauma. 2021;26(6):519-26.

306. Byeon H. Effects of grief focused intervention on the mental health of dementia caregivers: systematic review and meta-analysis. Iranian Journal of Public Health. 2020;49(12):2275-86.

307. Kustanti CY, Fang HF, Linda Kang X, Chiou JF, Wu SC, Yunitri N, et al. The effectiveness of bereavement support for adult family caregivers in palliative care: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Journal of Nursing Scholarship. 2021;53(2):208-17.

308. Laranjeira C, Moura D, Salci MA, Carreira L, Covre E, Jaques A, et al. A scoping review of interventions for family bereavement care during the COVID-19 pandemic. Behavioral Sciences. 2022;12(5):19.

309. Moss SJ, Wollny K, Poulin TG, Cook DJ, Stelfox HT, Ordons ARD, et al. Bereavement interventions to support informal caregivers in the intensive care unit: a systematic review. BMC Palliative Care. 2021;20(1):66.

310. Thrower C, Barrie C, Baxter S, Bloom M, Borja MC, Butters A, et al. Interventions for grieving and bereaved informal caregivers: a scoping review of the Canadian literature. Journal of Palliative Care. 2022;38(2):8258597221101826.

311. Bergman AS, Axberg U, Hanson E. When a parent dies: a systematic review of the effects of support programs for parentally bereaved children and their caregivers. BMC Palliative Care. 2017;16(1):39.

312. Chen CY-C, Panebianco A. Interventions for young bereaved children: a systematic review and implications for school mental health providers. Child & Youth Care Forum. 2018;47(2):151-71.

313. de Lopez K, Knudsen Hanne S, Hansen Tia G. What is measured in bereavement treatment for children and adolescents? A systematic literature review. Illness, Crisis, & Loss. 2020;28(4):363-87.

314. Ing V, Patterson P, Szabo M, Allison KR. Interventions available to adolescents and young adults bereaved by familial cancer: a systematic literature review. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022;12(e5):e632-e40.

315. Journot-Reverbel K, Raynaud JP, Bui E, Revet A. Support groups for children and adolescents bereaved by suicide: lots of interventions, little evidence. Psychiatry Research. 2017;250:253-5.

316. Ridley A, Frache S. Bereavement care interventions for children under the age of 18 following the death of a sibling: a systematic review. Palliative Medicine. 2020;34(10):1340-50.

317. Davidow JB, Zide BS, Levin LL, Biddle KD, Urizar JC, Donovan NJ. A scoping review of interventions for spousal bereavement in older adults. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2022;30(3):404-18.

318. Jones K, Methley A, Boyle G, Garcia R, Vseteckova J. A systematic review of the effectiveness of acceptance and commitment therapy for managing grief experienced by bereaved spouses or partners of adults who had received palliative care. Illness, Crisis, & Loss. 2022;30:596-613.

319. Vrkljan B, Montpetit A, Naglie G, Rapoport M, Mazer B. Interventions that support major life transitions in older adulthood: a systematic review. International Psychogeriatrics. 2019;31:393-415.

320. Bartone PT, Bartone JV, Violanti JM, Gileno ZM. Peer support services for bereaved survivors: a systematic review. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2019;80(1):137-66.

321. Alves-Costa F, Hamilton-Giachritsis C, Christie H, van Denderen M, Halligan S. Psychological interventions for individuals bereaved by homicide: a systematic review. Trauma Violence & Abuse. 2021;22(4):793-803.

322. Andriessen K, Krysinska K, Hill NTM, Reifels L, Robinson J, Reavley N, et al. Effectiveness of interventions for people bereaved through suicide: a systematic review of controlled studies of grief, psychosocial and suicide-related outcomes. BMC Psychiatry. 2019;19(1):49.

323. Andriessen K, Krysinska K, Kolves K, Reavley N. Suicide postvention service models and guidelines 2014-2019: a systematic review. Frontiers in Psychology. 2019;10:2677.

324. Brekelmans ACM, Ramnarain D, Pouwels S. Bereavement support programs in the Intensive Care Unit: a systematic review. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2022;64(3):e149-e57.

325. Eddinger JR, Hardt MM, Williams JL. Concurrent treatment for PTSD and Prolonged Grief Disorder: review of outcomes for exposure- and nonexposure-based treatments. Omega. 2021;83(3):446-69.

326. Efstathiou N, Walker W, Metcalfe A, Vanderspank-Wright B. The state of bereavement support in adult intensive care: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. Journal of Critical Care. 2019;50:177-87.

327. Enez O. Effectiveness of psychotherapy-based interventions for complicated grief: a systematic review. Psikiyatride Guncel Yaklasimlar. 2017;9(4):441-63.

328. Finlayson-Short L, Hetrick S, Krysinska K, Harris M, Salom C, Stefanac N, et al. Community based support for people at risk for suicide and those who care for them – areas for Improvement. Archives of Suicide Research. 2020;24(2):125-57.

329. Grijo L, Tojal C, Rego F. Effects of dignity therapy on palliative patients' family members: a systematic review. Palliative & Supportive Care. 2021;19(5):605-14.

330. Harrop E, Morgan F, Longo M, Semedo L, Fitzgibbon J, Pickett S, et al. The impacts and effectiveness of support for people bereaved through advanced illness: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. Palliative Medicine. 2020;34(7):871-88.

331. Harrop E, Mann M, Semedo L, Chao D, Selman LE, Byrne A. What elements of a systems' approach to bereavement are most effective in times of mass bereavement? A narrative systematic review with lessons for COVID-19. Palliative Medicine. 2020;34(9):1165-81.

332. Higgins A, Hybholt L, Meuser OA, Eustace C, Downes C, Morrissey J. Scoping review of peer-led support for people bereaved by suicide. International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health. 2022;19(6):15.

333. Johannsen M, Damholdt MF, Zachariae R, Lundorff M, Farver-Vestergaard I, O'Connor M. Psychological interventions for grief in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2019;253:69-86.

334. Linde K, Treml J, Steinig J, Nagl M, Kersting A. Grief interventions for people bereaved by suicide: a systematic review. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(6):e0179496.

335. Maass U, Hofmann L, Perlinger J, Wagner B. Effects of bereavement groups: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Death Studies. 2022;46(3):708-18.

336. McGill K, Bhullar N, Pearce T, Batterham PJ, Wayland S, Maple M. Effectiveness of brief contact interventions for bereavement: a systematic review. Omega – Journal of Death & Dying. 2022:302228221108289.

337. Patinadan PV, Tan-Ho G, Choo PY, Ho AHY. Resolving anticipatory grief and enhancing dignity at the end-of life: a systematic review of palliative interventions. Death Studies. 2022;46(2):337-50.

338. Rait L, Yeo N, Abdelhamid Y, Showler L, Finnis M, Deane A. The impact of bereavement support on psychological distress in family members: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Critical Care and Resuscitation. 2021;23(2):225-33.

339. Riegel M, Randall S, Buckley T. Memory making in end-of-life care in the adult intensive care unit: a scoping review of the research literature. Australian Critical Care. 2019;32(5):442-7.

340. Roberts KE, Walsh LE, Saracino RM, Fogarty J, Coats T, Goldberg J, et al. A systematic review of treatment options for grieving older adults. Current Treatment Options in Psychiatry. 2019;6(4):422-49.

341. Robinson C, Pond R. Do online support groups for grief benefit the bereaved?Systematic review of the quantitative and qualitative literature. Computers in Human Behavior.2019;100:48-59.

342. Wagner B, Rosenberg N, Hofmann L, Maass U. Web-based bereavement care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2020;11:525.

343. Waller A, Turon H, Mansfield E, Clark K, Hobden B, Sanson-Fisher R. Assisting the bereaved: a systematic review of the evidence for grief counselling. Palliative Medicine. 2016;30(2):132-48.

344. Weiskittle RE, Gramling SE. The therapeutic effectiveness of using visual art modalities with the bereaved: a systematic review. Psychology Research & Behavior Management. 2018;11:9-24.

345. Williams J, Shorter GW, Howlett N, Zakrzewski-Fruer J, Chater AM. Can physical activity support grief outcomes in individuals who have been bereaved? A systematic review. Sports Medicine – Open. 2021;7(1):26.

346. Wilson DM, Dhanji N, Playfair R, Nayak SS, Puplampu GL, Macleod R. A scoping review of bereavement service outcomes. Palliative & Supportive Care. 2017;15(2):242-59.

347. Wojtkowiak J, Lind J, Smid GE. Ritual in therapy for prolonged grief: a scoping review of ritual elements in evidence-informed grief interventions. Frontiers in Psychiatry 2020;11:623835.

348. Zuelke AE, Luppa M, Lobner M, Pabst A, Schlapke C, Stein J, et al. Effectiveness and feasibility of internet-based interventions for grief after bereavement: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mental Health. 2021;8(12):e29661.

349. Greene D, Rees C, Egan S, Breen L. A systematic review of grief reduction as an active ingredient in the psychological treatment and prevention of youth anxiety and depression.

PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=264856

350. Stroebe M, Lenferink L. The efficacy of bereavement interventions: a systematic review of reviews. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=94251

351. Pereira M, Johnsen I, Hauken MAA, Kristensen P, Dyregrov A. Early interventions following the death of a parent: a mixed methods systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=64077">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=64077</a>

352. Cox R, Brierley G, Granne I, Mahtani K, Williams V, Roberts N. A systematic review of the evidence for interventions to help improve the wellbeing of women following miscarriage. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=98732

353. Ihara A, Ota E, Kai C, Kanmei G. The effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for patients with prolonged grief disorder: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=107737</u>

354. Buitendyk M, Medina Kasasni S, Okun N, Murphy K, Murphy-Kaulbeck L, De Castro C. A systematic review of perinatal palliative care and bereavement programs in low and middle income countries. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=295743

355. Graham-Wisener L, Potvin N, Kirkwood J, Thomas D, Roulston A, Anderson M, et al. Music therapy for supporting informal carers of individuals with life-threatening illness pre- and post-bereavement: a mixed-methods systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=244859

356. Loughnan S, Flenady V, Crocker S, Boyle F. A systematic review of internet-based psychosocial support interventions for bereaved parents and families following perinatal loss. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=166858

357. Roberts LR, Sarpy NL, Peters J, Nick JM, Tamares S. Bereavement care immediately after perinatal loss in health care facilities: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evidence Synthesis. 2022;20:860-6.

358. Sánchez-Alcón M, Sánchez-Ramos JL, Sosa-Cordobés E, Diego Ramos-Pichardo J, Garrido-Fernández A, Ortega-Galán ÁM. Interventions to ameliorate grief and depression in caregivers of people with dementia: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=357463

359. Wilcox C, Warren A. A systematic review to examine the efficacy of occupation-focused activity-based interventions for children who are bereaved. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=124541">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=124541</a>

360. Cockle-Hearne J, Aldiss S, Gibson F, Milne S, Todd J, Ream E. Support interventions provided during palliative care to families with dependent children when a parent has terminal illness: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evidence Synthesis. 2021;19:3163-73.

361. Pattison N, Lone N, Humphreys S, Di X, May J. Interventions to improve bereavement distress among the family of intensive care unit decedents: a systematic review. PROSPERO

[Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=152128">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=152128</a>

362. Pedrosa M, Lopes M, Martins L. Interventions for bereaved family members by sudden unexpected or traumatic death: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=301603

363. Roulston A, Clarke MJ, Donnelly M, Candy B, McGaughey J, Keegan O, et al. Psychological therapies for major depressive disorder and prolonged grief in bereaved adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2018;2018(12).

364. Dewa L, McAlpine R, Pitman A. Peer support for young people bereaved by suicide: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=248532

365. Inostroza C, Quijada Y, Bustos C, Rubio F, Fernández D, Bühring V, et al. Peer-support groups for suicide loss survivors: systematic review of effectiveness and implementation research. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=307591

366. Saini P, Poole H, Abbate L, Chopra J. Systematic review protocol: a feasibility study of the effectiveness and acceptability of postvention liaison services for individuals bereaved by suicide. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=239308

367. Moloney A, Griffen E, McMahon E. A systematic review of effective supports and interventions for individuals bereaved by suicide. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=275941

368. Komischke-Konnerup KB, Zachariae R, Boelen P, O'Connor M. Cognitive-behavioral therapies for prolonged grief symptoms: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=359625

369. Turner A. Cognitive restructuring as an intervention to treat Prolonged Grief Disorder in bereaved adults: a systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=169587

370. Doering B, Hanauer C, Telaar B, Unterhitzenberger J, Rosner R. The efficacy of psychosocial interventions for grief symptoms in bereaved children and adolescents: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=202003

371. Ferreira G, Silva D, Borges D. The importance of psychotherapy in the process of mourning afforestation: a systematic literature review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=159630

372. Quero S, Tur C, Campos D, Lopez-Montoyo A, Cuijpers P. The efficacy of psychological interventions for grief disorders: a comprehensive meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=133953</u>

373. Validabady Z, Lotfi DM. Online psychological grief interventions: a live systematic review. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=196282 374. Kustanti CY. Interventions for complicated grief disorder: a network meta-analysis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=200048</u>

375. Balogh Z, Holland C, Palmier-Claus J, Varey S. Impacts of physical activity on the effect of bereavement on mental health and wellbeing among older people. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <a href="https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=281676">https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=281676</a>

376. Cleary A, Dean J, Pollock D, McDaid L, Boyle F. Nature-based interventions for bereavement care: a scoping review protocol. JBI Evidence Synthesis. 2022;20:1344-52.

377. Martinez Caballero Ma, del Carmen Ortego Maté M. Children ´s grief: tales as a tool for nursing intervention. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=327477</u>

378. Wisker G, Moffatt S, Thomson K. Facilitators and barriers of community-based interventions for childhood bereavement: a systematic review and framework synthesis. PROSPERO [Internet]. Available from:

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=245996

379. Berry M, Brink E, Metaxa V. Time for change? A national audit on bereavement care in intensive care units. Journal of the Intensive Care Society. 2017;18:11-6.

380. Independent Age. Approaches to commissioning bereavement services: a freedom of information request with Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local Authorities. Independent Age; 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.independentage.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/Bereavement%20Briefing%20PDF.pdf</u>

381. O'Brien MR, Kirkcaldy AJ, Knighting K, Roe B, Jack BA. Bereavement support and Prolonged Grief Disorder among carers of people with motor neurone disease. British Journal of Neuroscience Nursing. 2016;12:268-76.

382. Wakefield D, Fleming E, Howorth K, Waterfield K, Kavanagh E, Billett HC, et al. Inequalities in awareness and availability of bereavement services in North-East England. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2020;23:23.

383. Cameron J, Solomon S. Support for those bereaved by suicide: a qualitative research study: London: Mental Health Foundation; 2020. Available from: <u>http://www.scie-socialcareonline.org.uk/support-for-those-bereaved-by-suicide-a-qualitative-research-study/r/a116f00000Ui53rAAB</u>

384. Irvine CH, Cumming G. Memorial services offered following an early pregnancy loss in Scotland. Practising Midwife. 2015;18:23-6.

385. Stephen AI, Macduff C, Petrie DJ, Tseng FM, Schut H, Skar S, et al. The economic cost of bereavement in Scotland. Death Studies. 2015;39:151-7.

386. Ochieng CA, Harrop E, Evans A, Newman A, Seddon K, Nelson A, et al. A scoping survey of bereavement services in Wales. End of study report. Bristol: Marie Curie Palliative Care Research Centre & The Welsh Govenment; 2019. Available from: <u>https://bit.ly/3XuwiW1</u>

387. Murray K. National mapping of BAME mental health services. London: BAMEStream; 2020. Available from: <u>https://bit.ly/3AIAcR1</u>

388. Pearce C, Honey JR, Lovick R, Zapiain Creamer N, Henry C, Langford A, et al. 'A silent epidemic of grief': a survey of bereavement care provision in the UK and Ireland during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e046872.

389. Cockle-Hearne J, Reed E, Todd J, Ream E. The dying parent and dependent children: a nationwide survey of hospice and community palliative care support services. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care. 2022;12:e696-e704.

390. Hackett J, Beresford B. 'Cold bedrooms' and other cooling facilities in UK children's hospices, how they are used and why they are offered: a mixed methods study. Palliative Medicine. 2021;35(3):603-10.

391. National Bereavement Alliance. COVID-19: the response of voluntary sector bereavement services. National Bereavement Alliance; 2020. Available from: https://bit.ly/3Vz3D09

392. Sands. Audit of bereavement care provision in UK maternity units 2016. London: Sands; 2017. Available from: <u>https://bit.ly/3Vajh2a</u>

393. Sands, Bliss. Audit of bereavement care provision in UK Neonatal Units 2018. London: Sands and Bliss; 2018. Available from: <u>https://bit.ly/3gzTDVE</u>

394. Hansford L, Thomas F, Wyatt K. How does housing affect end-of-life care and bereavement in low-income communities? A qualitative study of the experiences of bereaved individuals and service providers in the United Kingdom. Palliative Care and Social Practice. 2022;16:26323524221110248.

395. Sagar-Ouriaghli I, Godfrey E, Bridge L, Meade L, Brown JSL. Improving mental health service utilization among men: a systematic review and synthesis of behavior change techniques within interventions targeting help-seeking. American Journal of Men's Health. 2019;13(3):1557988319857009.

396. Stelzer EM, Atkinson C, O'Connor MF, Croft A. Gender differences in grief narrative construction: a myth or reality? Eur J Psychotraumatol. 2019;10(1):1688130.

397. Harris D. Oppression of the bereaved: a critical analysis of grief in Western society. Omega. 2009;60(3):241-53.

398. Rosenblatt PC. Researching grief: cultural, relational, and individual possibilities. Journal of Loss and Trauma. 2017;22(8):617-30.

399. Boerner K, Stroebe M, Schut H, Wortman CB. Theories of grief and bereavement. In: Pachana NA, editor. Encyclopedia of geropsychology. Singapore: Springer Singapore; 2015. p. 1-10.

400. Zisook S, Shear K. Grief and bereavement: what psychiatrists need to know. World Psychiatry. 2009;8(2):67-74.

401. Granek L. Is grief a disease? The medicalization of grief by the psy-disciplines in the twenty first century In: Thompson N, Cox GR, editors. Handbook of the sociology of death, grief, and bereavement: a guide to theory and practice. New York: Routledge; 2017. p.264-78.

402. Raine G, Khouja C, Scott R, Wright K, Sowden A. Pornography use and sexting amongst children and young people: a systematic overview of reviews. Systematic Reviews. 2020;9:283.

403. Caird J, Sutcliffe K, Kwan I, Dickson K, Thomas J. Mediating policy-relevant evidence at speed: are systematic reviews of systematic reviews a useful approach? Evidence and Policy. 2015;11(1): 81-97.

## **APPENDIX 1: QUESTIONS OF INTEREST TO THE DHSC**

- What is the extent and nature of PGD? How widely is it experienced and by who?
- What factors make an individual more likely to develop PGD? Are these individual or situational factors? Does the time lag between experiencing bereavement and accessing a support service affect the likelihood of an individual developing PGD?
- What are the needs of bereaved people, including in relation to support and services, and what policies would be beneficial?
- What are the barriers to accessing grief services and what are the equity issues in relation to access?
- What interventions are effective for preventing PGD? When is the optimum time to access bereavement support services in order to prevent PGD?
- What types of bereavement support services are available in the UK? To what extent do available services reflect those that have been evaluated?

## **APPENDIX 2: SEARCH STRATEGY**

Ovid MEDLINE(R) ALL

via Ovid <u>http://ovidsp.ovid.com/</u>

Date range: 1946 to October 27, 2022

Records retrieved: 1639

The MEDLINE strategy below includes an adapted version of the DARE systematic review search filter for Ovid MEDLINE and the NICE UK search filter for Ovid MEDLINE.

Search Strategies (n.d.). About the Databases, Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/crdweb/searchstrategies.asp</u> Accessed: 20/10/2022

Ayiku L, Levay P, Hudson T, Craven J, Barrett E, Finnegan A and Adams R. The MEDLINE UK filter: development and validation of a geographic search filter to retrieve research about the UK from OVID MEDLINE. Health Information and Libraries Journal, 2017 34 (3): 200-216. (Publisher: Wiley. © 2017 Crown copyright. Health Information and Libraries Journal © 2017 Health Libraries Group).

- 1 exp Grief/ (9907)
- 2 Prolonged Grief Disorder/ (37)
- 3 Bereavement/ (6459)
- 4 (grief\* or griev\* or bereave\* or mourn\*).ti,ab,kw. (18380)
- 5 or/1-4 (23580)
- 6 systematic review/ (210522)
- 7 systematic\$ review\$.ti,ab. (268123)
- 8 exp meta-analysis as topic/ (25835)
- 9 meta-analysis/ (169629)
- 10 meta-analytic\$.ti,ab. (9192)
- 11 meta-analysis.ti,ab,pt. (244080)
- 12 metanalysis.ti,ab. (475)
- 13 metaanalysis.ti,ab. (1782)
- 14 meta analysis.ti,ab. (213917)
- 15 meta-synthesis.ti,ab. (1344)

- 16 metasynthesis.ti,ab. (420)
- 17 meta synthesis.ti,ab. (1344)
- 18 meta-regression.ti,ab. (11716)
- 19 metaregression.ti,ab. (907)
- 20 meta regression.ti,ab. (11716)
- 21 (synthes\$ adj3 literature).ti,ab. (5262)
- 22 (synthes\$ adj3 evidence).ti,ab. (15785)
- 23 integrative review.ti,ab. (4416)
- 24 data synthesis.ti,ab. (13662)
- 25 (research synthesis or narrative synthesis).ti,ab. (6046)
- 26 (systematic study or systematic studies).ti,ab. (14395)
- 27 (systematic comparison\$ or systematic overview\$).ti,ab. (4270)
- 28 evidence based review.ti,ab. (2336)
- 29 comprehensive review.ti,ab. (22385)
- 30 critical review.ti,ab. (18704)
- 31 ((quantitativ\* or qualitativ\*) adj2 review\*).ti,ab. (9016)
- 32 structured review.ti,ab. (989)
- 33 realist review.ti,ab. (536)
- 34 realist synthesis.ti,ab. (307)
- 35 ((mixed or multiple or indirect) adj treatment\$ comparison\$).ti,ab. (932)
- 36 or/6-35 (501097)
- 37 review.pt. (3064650)
- 38 medline.ab. (153541)
- 39 pubmed.ab. (185654)
- 40 cochrane.ab. (122030)
- 41 embase.ab. (138998)
- 42 cinahl.ab. (40473)

- 43 psyc?lit.ab. (917)
- 44 psyc?info.ab. (53436)
- 45 (literature adj3 search\$).ab. (84452)
- 46 (database\$ adj3 search\$).ab. (88072)
- 47 (bibliographic adj3 search\$).ab. (3482)
- 48 (electronic adj3 search\$).ab. (30750)
- 49 (electronic adj3 database\$).ab. (43088)
- 50 (computeri?ed adj3 search\$).ab. (3851)
- 51 (internet adj3 search\$).ab. (4083)
- 52 included studies.ab. (38984)
- 53 (inclusion adj3 studies).ab. (23226)
- 54 inclusion criteria.ab. (119326)
- selection criteria.ab. (34739)
- 56 predefined criteria.ab. (2404)
- 57 predetermined criteria.ab. (1255)
- 58 (assess\$ adj3 (quality or validity)).ab. (105460)
- 59 (select\$ adj3 (study or studies)).ab. (85379)
- 60 (data adj3 extract\$).ab. (89684)
- 61 extracted data.ab. (19343)
- 62 (data adj2 abstracted).ab. (6277)
- 63 (data adj3 abstraction).ab. (2150)
- 64 published intervention\$.ab. (236)
- 65 ((study or studies) adj2 evaluat\$).ab. (233907)
- 66 (intervention\$ adj2 evaluat\$).ab. (14496)
- 67 confidence interval\$.ab. (526794)
- 68 heterogeneity.ab. (216078)
- 69 pooled.ab. (118997)

- 70 pooling.ab. (15549)
- 71 odds ratio\$.ab. (343443)
- 72 (Jadad or coding).ab. (222910)
- 73 or/38-72 (1870519)
- 74 37 and 73 (315552)
- 75 review.ti. (637497)
- 76 75 and 73 (237222)

77 (review\$ adj4 (papers or trials or studies or evidence or intervention\$ or evaluation\$)).ti,ab. (240198)

- 78 ((quantitativ\* or qualitativ\*) adj2 synth\*).ti,ab. (8994)
- 79 ((scoping or rapid) adj2 (review\* or stud\*)).ti,ab. (23116)
- 80 36 or 74 or 76 or 77 or 78 or 79 (790772)
- 81 5 and 80 (998)
- 82 limit 81 to yr="2015 -Current" (656)
- 83 exp United Kingdom/ (386814)
- 84 (national health service\* or nhs\*).ti,ab,in. (254732)

85 (english not ((published or publication\* or translat\* or written or language\* or speak\* or literature or citation\*) adj5 english)).ti,ab. (46560)

86 (gb or "g.b." or britain\* or (british\* not "british columbia") or uk or "u.k." or united kingdom\* or (england\* not "new england") or northern ireland\* or northern irish\* or scotland\* or scottish\* or ((wales or "south wales") not "new south wales") or welsh\*).ti,ab,jw,in. (2362607)

87 (bath or "bath's" or ((birmingham not alabama\*) or ("birmingham's" not alabama\*) or bradford or "bradford's" or brighton or "brighton's" or bristol or "bristol's" or carlisle\* or "carlisle's" or (cambridge not (massachusetts\* or boston\* or harvard\*)) or ("cambridge's" not (massachusetts\* or boston\* or harvard\*)) or (canterbury not zealand\*) or ("canterbury's" not zealand\*) or chelmsford or "chelmsford's" or chester or "chester's" or chichester or "chichester's" or coventry or "coventry's" or derby or "derby's" or (durham not (carolina\* or nc)) or ("durham's" not (carolina\* or nc)) or ely or "ely's" or exeter or "exeter's" or gloucester or "gloucester's" or hereford or "hereford's" or hull or "hull's" or lancaster or "lancaster's" or leeds\* or leicester or "leicester's" or (lincoln not nebraska\*) or ("lincoln's" not nebraska\*) or (liverpool not (new south wales\* or nsw)) or ("liverpool's" not (new south wales\* or nsw)) or ((london not (ontario\* or ont or toronto\*)) or ("london's" not (ontario\* or ont or toronto\*)) or manchester or "manchester's" or (newcastle not (new south wales\* or nsw)) or ("newcastle's" not (new south wales\* or nsw)) or norwich or "norwich's" or nottingham or "nottingham's" or oxford or "oxford's" or peterborough or "peterborough's" or plymouth or "plymouth's" or portsmouth or "portsmouth's" or preston or "preston's" or ripon or "ripon's" or salford or "salford's" or salisbury or "salisbury's" or sheffield or "sheffield's" or southampton or "southampton's" or st albans or stoke or "stoke's" or sunderland or "sunderland's" or truro or "truro's" or wakefield or "wakefield's" or wells or westminster or "westminster's" or (worcester not (massachusetts\* or boston\* or harvard\*)) or ("worcester's" not (massachusetts\* or boston\* or harvard\*)) or (york not ("new york\*" or ny or ontario\* or ont or toronto\*))))).ti,ab,in. (1669388)

88 (bangor or "bangor's" or cardiff or "cardiff's" or newport or "newport's" or st asaph or "st asaph's" or st davids or swansea or "swansea's").ti,ab,in. (66879)

89 (aberdeen or "aberdeen's" or dundee or "dundee's" or edinburgh or "edinburgh's" or glasgow or "glasgow's" or inverness or (perth not australia\*) or ("perth's" not australia\*) or stirling or "stirling's").ti,ab,in. (246093)

90 (armagh or "armagh's" or belfast or "belfast's" or lisburn or "lisburn's" or
londonderry or "londonderry's" or derry or "derry's" or newry or "newry's").ti,ab,in.
(32063)

```
91 or/83-90 (2965673)
```

(exp africa/ or exp americas/ or exp antarctic regions/ or exp arctic regions/ or exp asia/ or exp australia/ or exp oceania/) not (exp United Kingdom/ or europe/)
(3251818)

```
93 91 not 92 (2809273)
```

```
94 5 and 93 (3165)
```

- 95 limit 94 to yr="2015 -Current" (1296)
- 96 82 or 95 (1762)
- 97 exp animals/ not humans/ (5058782)
- 98 96 not 97 (1755)
- 99 letter.pt. (1197110)
- 100 editorial.pt. (624133)
- 101 comment.pt. (983795)

102 exp historical article/ (409053)

- 103 anecdotes as topic/ (4746)
- 104 or/99-103 (2495022)
- 105 98 not 104 (1646)
- 106 remove duplicates from 105 (1639)

## Key:

- / or .sh. = indexing term (Medical Subject Heading: MeSH)
- exp = exploded indexing term (MeSH)

\* or \$ = truncation

- ti,ab,kw = terms in either title, abstract, keyword fields
- in = institution field
- adj3 = terms within three words of each other (any order)
- ? = optional wild card character for zero or one letters
- pt = publication type

## **APPENDIX 3: FOCUS OF INCLUDED REVIEWS (DETAILED)**

Table A: Focus of included reviews

Focus	Reviews	Protocols
Prevalence only	83, 86, 90, 94, 95	102, 107-109
PGD risk factors only	110-119	136-139
General grief reactions only	142-147	148-151
Interventions only	76, 288-348	349-378
Grief and bereavement experiences only	72-75, 174-243	244-246, 254-287
Prevalence; PGD risk factors	10, 78, 79, 84, 85, 87, 92, 96, 97	98-101, 103- 105
Prevalence; PGD risk factors; general grief reactions	77, 82, 88	106
Prevalence; PGD risk factors; general grief reactions; grief/bereavement experiences	80, 93	
Prevalence; PGD risk factors; interventions	89, 91	
Prevalence; general grief reactions; grief/bereavement experiences	81	
PGD risk factors; general grief reactions	122-126, 129-131	141
PGD risk factors; general grief reactions; interventions	132, 134	
PGD risk factors; grief/bereavement experiences	120	
PGD risk factors; grief/bereavement experiences; interventions	133	
PGD risk factors; general grief reactions; grief/bereavement experiences	121, 135	
PGD risk factors; interventions	127, 128	140
Grief/bereavement experiences; general grief reactions	153, 155-157, 159, 161, 162, 170-173	
Grief/bereavement experiences; interventions	152, 158, 163-169	247-253
Grief/bereavement experiences; general grief reactions; interventions	154, 160	

Reviews of reviews: #152, #288, #289; Protocols for reviews completed but not yet published: #140, #244, #245, #349

The NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility puts the evidence into development and implementation of health policy through:

- Undertaking policy-relevant systematic reviews of health and social care research
- Developing capacity for undertaking and using reviews
- Producing new and improved methods for undertaking reviews
- Promoting global awareness and use of systematic reviews in decision-making

The Reviews Facility is a collaboration between the following centres: EPPI Centre (Evidence for Policy and Practice Information Centre), UCL Social Research Institute, University College London; CRD (Centre for Reviews and Dissemination), University of York; and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

The NIHR Policy Research Programme Reviews Facility collaboration has grown out of a previous 'reviews facility' in Health Promotion and Public Health based at the EPPI Centre, and has been funded by the Department of Health and Social Care since 1995.

The views expressed in this work are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the collaborating centres or the funder. All errors and omissions remain those of the authors.

First produced in 2024 by:

Evidence for Policy and Practice Information Centre (EPPI Centre) Social Science Research Unit, UCL Social Research Institute UCL Institute of Education, University College London 18 Woburn Square London WC1H 0NR

https://eppi.ioe.ac.uk https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ioe/departments-and-centres/departments/ ucl-social-research-institute

ISBN: 978-1-911605-54-6

Editorial & design by: Lionel Openshaw

This document is available in a range of accessible formats including large print. Please contact the Social Science Research Unit for assistance.

Email: ioe.ssru@ucl.ac.uk Telephone: +44 (0)20 7331 5263